
CARROLL COUNTY BOARD MEETING 
Small Courtroom, Courthouse 

May 16, 2024   9:30 a.m. 
***PLEASE SILENCE CELL PHONES*** 

Call to Order  
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call  
Public Comments  

Consent Agenda 
1. Approval of the May 2nd Mee�ng Minutes
2. Approval of Bills Paid in Vaca�on
3. Approval of Commitee on Claims

Tabled Items 

Department Reports 
Animal Control  
Assessor  
Circuit Clerk  
County Clerk & Recorder  
Emergency Management 
GIS  
Highway  

 1. Monthly Report
Health Department  
Proba�on  
Sheriff  
States Atorney  
Transit  
Treasurer  
Zoning  
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Affiliate Reports 
Blackhawk Hills Regional Council – Mrs. Bickelhaupt  
Business Employment Skills Team/Workforce – Mr. Flikkema  
Community Mental Health Board – Mrs. Bickelhaupt  
Emergency Telephone System Board – Mr. Rieck  
Health Board – Mr. Iske  
Hotel/Motel – Ms. Jacobs    
Jo/Carroll Enterprise Zone – Mr. Payete 
Jo Daviess Carroll County Joint Ac�on Solid Waste Agency – Mr. Flikkema 



LRA – Ms. Jacobs  
NWILED – Ms. Jacobs  
Senior Services Board – Mr. Soldat  

 Tri-County Opportuni�es Council – Mr.  Preston 
                          1. Monthly Report           

United County Council of Illinois – Mr. Payete  
Veterans Assistance Commission – Ms. Jacobs  
Whiteside Carroll Enterprise Zone - Mr. Payete   

Commitee Reports  
 Ad Hoc Inmate Housing Commitee – Mr. Iske 

Highway/EOC Building Renova�on – Mr. Flikkema 
Ad Hoc Transit Garage Commitee – Mr. Flikkema        

Old Business 
1. Discussion and possible Approval of Transit Contract between Carroll County 

and Carroll County Senior Services. 
2. Discussion and possible Approval of next steps regarding Inmate Housing. 
3. Discussion and possible Approval of Architect/Engineer for Transit Garage. 

New Business 
1. Approval of the Local Public Agency Formal Contract with America’s Parking 

Remarking utilizing MFT funds in the amount of $47,787.99. 
2. Approval of Savanna Moose Club Raffle License. 
3. Discussion of Amended Chapter 700 Zoning Ordinance. 
4. Discussion of Amended Chapter 745 Guest Home License Ordinance. 
5. Approval of Resolu�on for Transporta�on Fund. 
6. Approval of Leter of Support for Upper Mississippi River Interna�onal Port         
       District EPA Clean Ports Planning Grant . 

Execu�ve Session  
 
Chairman Report  

Appointments    
1. Board of Review – appointment of (with a Republican party affilia�on) for a 

two-year term June 2024 thru May 2026. 
2. Jo Daviess-Carroll County Joint Ac�on Solid Waste Agency - reappointment of 

both Chris Flikkema and Les Guenzler for an ini�al one-year term June 2024 
thru May 2025 - to stager appointments, and reappointment of both Craig 
Dimmick and Ken Sandy… for a three-year term June 2024 thru May 2027. 

Adjournment  

Next County Board Mee�ng – June 6, 2024 9:30 a.m.  



CARROLL COUNTY BOARD MEETING 

301 N. MAIN ST., MT. CARROLL, IL IN SMALL COURTROOM 

MAY 2, 2024 AT 9:30 A.M. 

Chair Payette called the Board meeting to order at 9:30 a.m. 

Pledge of Allegiance. 

Roll call shows Mr. Payette, Mr. Preston, Mr. Flikkema, Ms. Jacobs, Mr. Iske, Mr. Rieck and Mr. 
Soldat present.  Mr. Vandermyde and Mrs. Bickelhaupt were absent.  

Public Comments – None 

Chair Payette presented the consent agenda for approval. 
• Approval of the April 18, 2024 Board Meeting minutes
• Approval of Bills Paid in Vacation
• Approval of Committee on Claims

Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Ms. Jacobs to approve the consent agenda. Roll call shows  
Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Preston, Mr. Payette, Ms. Jacobs, Mr. Soldat, Mr. Rieck and Mr. Iske all voting 
aye.  Motion carried.  

Tabled Items - None 

Animal Control- A monthly report was submitted.  Animal Control Officer Lisa Ashby arrived late 
due to having a dog running at large call.  She updated the Board that at this time the Animal 
Control facility had no dogs.  She will be working on replacing back doors, painting kennel floors 
and working on chain link fence improvements.  

Assessor- Deputy Assessor Koltin Dimmick advised no report. 

Circuit Clerk- Circuit Clerk Patty Hiher advised no report.  

County Clerk- County Clerk Amy Buss had a handout that shows tax extensions for all districts in 
Carroll County and Exemptions for the County.   

Emergency Management- No report. 

GIS- Deputy Assessor Dimmick advised no report. 

Highway – A monthly report was submitted. 

County Engineer Sara Renkes reported that she received two additional quotes for garage doors 
but they are higher than the previously approved amount of $17,739.26.  



She also receive three quotes for the removal of three trees.  Extreme Tree, was the lowest 
quote of $1,800.00. Discussion.  It was the consensus of the Board she have a plan on which 
trees will be removed and put it on the agenda for action at the May 16th meeting.   

She reported that surplus highway equipment was placed on 'Gov Deals Auction'.  Discussion 
included understanding the funds received will be deposited into the County Highway Fund.  It 
was recommended to also advertise locally in the future on the sale of surplus equipment. 

Chair Payette inquired how the County has delt with surplus equipment in the past and if an 
ordinance should be established on how to handle the sale of surplus for all Departments. Clerk 
Buss and States Attorney Kaney will respond back to the Chair. 

Health Department – No report.    

Probation- No report.  

Sheriff & Property- 911 Director Matt Magill updated the Board that Deputy Todd just 
graduated and will be starting field work training and a newly hired deputy has started training 
at the police academy. 

State’s Attorney – State’s Attorney Aaron Kaney advised no report.  

Transit – PCOM Mary Maszk informed the Board that the Drive-Up Lunch fundraiser for the 
Carroll County Transit went well and raised $3,200 with more donations to be collected.  

She updated the Board that in March a 2018 Transit van, with over 200,000 miles, was totaled.  
Insurance will pay out $26,600 and the money will be used by IDOT to replace the van.  

Chair Payette reported to the Board that the deadline for Architectural/Engineers Services bids 
for the Transit Garage was due later today. 

Chair Payette informed the Board that PCOM Mary Maszk and County Administrator Robert 
Jachnicki will meet with the Illinois Department of Transportation next week to review status of 
the Transit Program.  

Chair Payette brought to the Board’s attention that a reimbursement check was paid to Carroll 
County Senior Services Organization in the amount of $32,638.54. This was an example of a 
payment which will be monitored by PCOM Mary Maszk and happen regularly. 

Treasurer – County Treasurer Lydia Hutchcraft reported that tax bills will be mailed out May 
20th.   

Zoning – Zoning Officer Jaicee Buckner advised no report.     

Zoning Board of Appeals – No report.  

Affiliate Reports 



Blackhawk Hills Regional Council –  A monthly report was submitted.  

Business Employment Skills Team/Workforce – No report.    

Community Mental Health Board – No report. 

Emergency Telephone System Board - No report. 

Health Board – No report. 

Hotel/Motel – No report.  

Jo/Carroll Enterprise Zone - No report. 

Jo Daviess Carroll County Joint Action Solid Waste Agency – No report.  

LRA- No report.  

NWILED- No report. 

Senior Services Board - No report 

Tri-County Opportunities Council – No report  

United County Council of Illinois- No report  

Veterans Assistance Commission –  No report 

Whiteside Carroll Enterprise Zone – No report  

Committee Reports 

Ad Hoc Inmate Housing Committee- Mr. Iske reported the committee met with Wold via Zoom 
on Wednesday, April 24th.  Wold reported an update on the high level cost comparisons on the 
options that are being considered.  The committee asked Wold to work on additional space 
design work.  Wold will present that information to the committee next Tuesday, May 7th or 
Wednesday, May 8th. 

Highway/EOC Building Renovation-Mr. Flikkema reported that the contractor will hopefully 
begin working on the upstairs of the Highway/EOC building starting tomorrow May 3rd or 
Monday May 6th.  

Ad Hoc Transit Garage Committee- Mr. Flikkema reported that Friday, May 3rd at 9 a.m. in the 
Conference room a meeting will be held to review the architect packets that were submitted. 

Old Business- None 

New Business 

Chair Payette informed the Board the Approval of Hiring a Deputy Treasurer to fill a vacancy did 
not need Board approval as the position was already approved by the board. 



County Administrator Robert Jachnicki presented for Approval the purchase ClearGov Budget 
Software.   He informed the Board that data from 2017 thru now will be installed with the 
software. ClearGov will honor the 2023 price quote of $10,000.  Motion by Mr. Iske, second by 
Ms. Jacobs to approve the purchase of ClearGov Budget Software with fees of $2,500 for one 
time setup fee, $5,833.33 for a 7 month pro-rated 2023 $10,000 subscription fee, and have 
Administrator Jachnicki negotiate the $10,000 annual subscription fee for future years.  Roll call 
shows Mr. Soldat, Mr. Rieck, Ms. Jacobs, Mr. Iske, Mr. Preston, Mr. Payette and Mr. Flikkema all 
voting aye.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette informed the Board at this time no action will be taken on Approval of Transit 
Contract between the County and Senior Services. It has been reviewed by the State’s Attorney, 
the County Administrator and himself and there are several items that need clarification.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Highway Building change order #01372 regarding north 
entry doors.  The change order had been approved at the previous Board Meeting but has been 
rewritten for clarification. Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Ms. Jacobs.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Highway Building change order #013475 regarding 1st 
floor flooring. There will be no additional cost.  Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Mr. Flikkema 
to approve. Discussion. Motion carried. 

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Highway Building change order #013473 regarding 
preventing water leakage into basement and associated warranty. The change order was 
previously approved but the job description was updated and included a requested warranty - 
for one year.  Motion by Ms. Jacobs, second by Mr. Preston to approve. Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Highway Building change order #013474 regarding 
grinding front entry stoop in the amount of $800.00.  Motion by Mr. Rieck, second by Mr. Soldat 
to approve. Discussion.  Roll call shows Mr. Soldat, Mr. Iske, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Rieck, and Mr. 
Payette voting aye with Ms. Jacobs and Mr. Preston voting nay.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Resolution to allocate budgeted Matching funds to Ideal 
Road project in the amended estimated amount of $5,440,963.05. County Engineer Renkes 
explained why the amount has been amended and noted the Federal’s share being 
$4,963,970.44 and County’s share of $476,992.61. Discussion.  Motion by Mr. Preston, second 
by Ms. Jacobs to approve with the amended figure.  Roll call shows Mr. Rieck, Mr. Payette, Ms. 
Jacobs, Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Preston, Mr. Soldat and Mr. Iske all voting aye.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of an amount not to exceed $3,470 payment to the City of 
Savanna toward cost of the Great River Trail Extension Feasibility Study.  Motion by Mr. Preston, 
second by Mr. Soldat to approve.  Roll call shows Mr. Preston, Mr. Iske, Mr. Payette, Mr. Rieck, 
Mr. Flikkema, Mr. Soldat all voting aye with Ms. Jacobs voting nay.  Motion carried.  After 
Motion carried,  Chair Payette informed the Board this payment will come out of Grants - Fund 
55.



Chair Payette presented for Approval of Credit Cards and limits for Zoning, PCOM and 
Administrator.  Chair Payette recommended that Zoning and PCOM credit limits  be $2,000 with 
the Administrator credit limit being $10,000.  Motion by Mr. Preston, second by Mr. Flikkema to 
approve.  Roll call shows Mr. Iske, Mr. Flikkema, Ms. Jacobs, Mr. Soldat, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Soldat, Mr. 
Rieck, Mr. Payette and Mr. Preston all voting aye.  Motion carried.  

Chair Payette presented a Raffle License for Milledgeville Village Jamboree for Approval.  
Motion by Mr. Iske, second by Mr. Flikkema to approve.  Motion carried. 

Chair Payette presented for Approval a Proclamation declaring May as Motorcycle Awareness 
Month.  Motion by Mr. Iske, second by Mr. Flikkema to approve the Proclamation.  Motion 
carried.  

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Whiteside Carroll Enterprise Zone Addition of Territory.  
Chair Payette explained the Enterprise Zone Addition of Territory. Motion by Ms. Jacobs, second 
by Mr. Preston to approve. Roll call shows Mr. Payette, Mr. Preston, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Soldat, Mr. 
Iske, Mr. Flikkema and Ms. Jacobs all voting aye.  Motion carried. 

Chair Payette asked for a motion to go into Executive Session 5 ILCS 120/2 (c) (1) Personnel at 
11:01 a.m.  Motion by Mr. Flikkema, second by Mr. Soldat to go into Executive Session.  Roll call 
shows Ms. Jacobs, Mr. Preston, Mr. Iske, Mr. Payette, Mr. Rieck, Mr. Flikkema and Mr. Soldat all 
voting aye.   

Back into Regular Session at 11:31 a.m. 

Chair Payette presented for Approval of Administrator offer letter. Motion by Mr. Soldat, second 
by Ms. Jacobs to approve offer letter.  Roll call shows Mr. Payette, Mr. Preston, Mr. Rieck, Mr. 
Soldat, Mr. Iske, Mr. Flikkema and Ms. Jacobs all voting aye.  Motion carried. 

Chairman Reports 

Chair Payette updated the Board the County Administrator’s new email is 
countyadministrator@carrollcountyil.gov.  He will also have a new email that will be activated 
soon and it will be boardchair@carrollcountyil.gov. He will let everyone know when he changes 
to the new email.  

Chair Payette updated the Board on two applications for Federal FY25 Community Funding 
Projects that he worked on.  He was able to submit a request for funds to help with funding of 
the Great River Trail Extesion Feasibility Study which was thru Congressman LaHood’s office. 
Unfortunately, he also worked on an application for Capital Improvement funding for the 
County Garage shop but missed the deadline.  He encouraged everyone to watch for grants and 
funding opportunities in the future.  

County Administrator Jachnicki updated the Board on his first few weeks. He has met with 
Department Supervisors, met with Computer Dynamics in regards to our IT structure, met with 

mailto:countyadministrator@carrollcountyil.gov
mailto:boardchair@carrollcountyil.gov


our Auditor WIPFLI, worked with Lydia on the Budget software proposal and has taken a close 
look at the County’s liability and medical policies. 

Appointments- None 

Motion by Mr. Flikkema, second by Mr. Preston to adjourn at 11: 42 a.m.  Motion carried.  

Submitted by Amy R. Buss, County Clerk and Recorder 

 



Selection Criteria: Vendor =  

Bank = 

Batch = DANSDOORS

Due Date = 

Invoice Date = 

Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 084 CORONA VIRUS RELIEF FU

ND

494565 5/8/2024 HWY DEPT

$3,341.45DAN'S OVERHEAD DOORS AND MOORE 08400009208 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS - EXP640737

494564 5/8/2024 HWY DEPT

$4,167.81DAN'S OVERHEAD DOORS AND MOORE 08400009208 BUILDING IMPROVEMENTS - EXP640737

$7,509.26Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 084 : $7,509.26

Page 1 of 2Operator: janeadolph 5/8/2024 1:01:17 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)

Bills Paid in Vacation



Selection Criteria: Vendor =  

Bank = 

Batch = 

Due Date = 5/16/2024

Invoice Date = 

Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

01 COURTHOUSE UPKEEPDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

304023801_5.21.24 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$2,047.35BRIGHTSPEED 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE640705

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$160.92CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE1464

5/15/24 5/16/2024 10759001, 10034001, 10033001

$206.77CITY OF MT. CARROLL 01101005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE900

5/15/24 5/16/2024 10759001, 10034001, 10033001

$96.08CITY OF MT. CARROLL 01101005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE900

393655 5/16/2024 MONTHLY EMAIL SECURITY

$144.30COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE1091

393657 5/16/2024 MONTHLY WEB HOSTING

$21.95COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE1091

10002005_5/17/24 5/16/2024 SHERIFFS RADIO

$71.73JO-CARROLL ENERGY 01101005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE2365

10002004_5.17.24 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$3,162.58JO-CARROLL ENERGY 01101005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE2365

3.18.24 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$1,920.00KURTZ  GLASS  COMPANY 01101005436 COURTHOUSE IMPROVMT-TUCK2500

2009764592404 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$44.74MCI 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE640191

4.30.24 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$6.99MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE3078

Page 1 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)

Committee on Claims



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

86673320007_6.11.24 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$604.37NICOR GAS 01101005006 UTILITIES--GAS1800

0721-007983093 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$229.51REPUBLIC SERVICES 01101005003 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE640762

SN022767 5/16/2024 COURTHOUSE

$337.48SYNDEO NETWORKS, INC. 01101005005 UTILITIES--TELEPHONE640697

$9,054.77Subtotal for Department: 01 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 2 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

02 SUPPLIES AND RENTALSDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

BUSS MAY 2024 5/16/2024 AMY BUSS

$16.06CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01102005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

$16.06Subtotal for Department: 02 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 3 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

03 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

INV608844 5/16/2024 ASSESSOR

$93.00STERLING BUSINESS EQUIP. CENT. 01103005025 OFFICE EQUIPMENT MAINTENAN4192

$93.00Subtotal for Department: 03 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 4 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

05 SUPERVISOR OF ASSESSMENTSDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

GRUHN MAY 2024 5/16/2024 ANNETTE GRUHN

$1,422.40CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01105005012 TRAVEL1464

c105235 5/16/2024 ASSESSMENT OFFICE

$20.00PEARSON 01105005323 PRINTING SUPPLIES & OTHERS3565

S504624 5/16/2024 ASSESSOR

$15.00PEARSON 01105005323 PRINTING SUPPLIES & OTHERS3565

$1,457.40Subtotal for Department: 05 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 5 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

12 COUNTY TREASURERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

HUTCHCRAFT_MAY2024 5/16/2024 LYDIA HUTCHCRAFT

$141.03CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES1464

5.16.24 PETTY CASH 5/16/2024 PETTY CASH

$42.93Carroll County Treasurer 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES640001

2024 PO BOX 198 5/16/2024 TREASURER

$188.00MT. CARROLL POSTMASTER 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3270

S504619 5/16/2024 TREASURER

$15.00PEARSON 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

42624007 5/16/2024 TREASURER

$350.00VERIBANC, INC 01112005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES640642

$736.96Subtotal for Department: 12 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 6 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

13 COUNTY CLERK AND RECORDERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

BUSS MAY 2024 5/16/2024 AMY BUSS

$183.07CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES1464

2024 POBOX152 5/16/2024 CO CLERK / P.O. BOX 152

$188.00MT. CARROLL POSTMASTER 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3270

S504622 5/16/2024 CO CLERK

$22.50PEARSON 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

5.16.24 REIMBURSE 5/16/2024 ADMINISTRATOR / I PHONE CHARGER

$20.89ROBERT JACHNICKI 01113005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES640852

$414.46Subtotal for Department: 13 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 7 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

18 CORONERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

4.30.24 5/16/2024 CORONER / AUTOPSIE

$650.00MARK PETERS, M.D. 01118006038 AUTOPSIES3364

1240268 5/16/2024 CORONER

$161.00NMS LABS 01118006038 AUTOPSIES640208

$811.00Subtotal for Department: 18 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 8 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

19 DOG CATCHERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / YEARLY ADMIN FEE

$2,400.00GARY WHITEBREAD 01119006061 SALARY PART-TIME27007

10002001_5.17.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL SHELTER

$89.23JO-CARROLL ENERGY 01119006039 AUTO TELEPHONE & SUPPLIES2365

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / HOOD LATCH & OIL CHANGE

$342.79KUNES' COUNTRY AUTO GROUP INC 01119006039 AUTO TELEPHONE & SUPPLIES2491

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / SUPPLIES

$66.94MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 01119005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3078

$2,898.96Subtotal for Department: 19 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 9 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

20 COUNTY SHERRIFFDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$50.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006048 TRAINING FEES1464

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$87.91CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES1464

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$463.59CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006046 UNIFORMS1464

000781569_MAY 2024 5/16/2024 TRAVEL TO CORRECTIONS ACADEMY

$781.62CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006051 SHERIFF--FUEL1464

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$206.11CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006087 PRISONER GENERAL CARE1464

MAGILL_MAY2024 5/16/2024 MATTHEW MAGILL

$147.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006010 911 DIRECTOR EXPENSES         1464

KLOEPPING_MAY2024 5/16/2024 RYAN KLOEPPING

$52.94CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01120006051 SHERIFF--FUEL1464

APRIL 2024 FUEL 5/16/2024 SHERIFF / FUEL

$3,278.50CARROLL COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPT. 01120006051 SHERIFF--FUEL2040

22970146-PX_4.26.24 5/16/2024 INMATE

$50.00CGH MEDICAL CENTER 01120006085 PRISONER MEDICAL640044

22969552-PX_4.24.24 5/16/2024 INMATE

$130.00CGH MEDICAL CENTER 01120006085 PRISONER MEDICAL640044

22963008-PX_4.24.24 5/16/2024 INMATE

$50.00CGH MEDICAL CENTER 01120006085 PRISONER MEDICAL640044

57347 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$674.26EWERS GARAGE 01120006044 SQUAD CAR MAINTENANCE1540

Page 10 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

027630747 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$242.02GALLS LLC 01120006046 UNIFORMS1771

41031 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$167.57KUNES' COUNTRY AUTO GROUP INC 01120006044 SQUAD CAR MAINTENANCE2491

1344224-20240430 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$200.00LEXISNEXIS RISK SOLUTIONS 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES640174

37975836 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$187.16QUILL CORPORATION 01120005323 OFFICE SUPPLIES3540

5.2.24 5/16/2024 COUNTY JAIL

$5,096.80SHAW'S FOODS 01120006073 DIETING OF PRISONERS3929

116058 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$167.95UNIFORM DEN, INC. 01120006046 UNIFORMS4510

115979 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$77.02UNIFORM DEN, INC. 01120006046 UNIFORMS4510

$12,110.45Subtotal for Department: 20 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 11 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

22 EMERGENCY SERVICESDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

287314771337X05032024 5/16/2024 EMA

$72.48AT&T MOBILITY 01122007055 CELL PHONE640659

KLINEFELTER_MAY2024 5/16/2024 JAMES KLINEFELTER

$28.67CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01122005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES1464

$101.15Subtotal for Department: 22 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 12 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

24 PUBLIC DEFENDERDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

SCHMIDT_5.3.24 5/16/2024 ATTY FEES

$6,885.00EDWARD J. MITCHELL 01124007104 DEFENDING ATTORNEY-SALARY2970

$6,885.00Subtotal for Department: 24 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 13 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

25 PROBATIONDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

ARNO_MAY 2024 5/16/2024 MARCIE ARNO

$18.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01125007072 PERSONAL SAFETY1464

393658 5/16/2024 PROBATION

$49.89COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01125007070 SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE1091

9809 5/16/2024 PROBATION

$75.10NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE SOLUTIONS 01125005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3172

$142.99Subtotal for Department: 25 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 14 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

26 STATES ATTORNEYDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

KANEY_MAY 2024 5/16/2024 AARON KANEY

$8.73CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01126005341 OTHER EXPENDITURES            1464

2024 PO BOX 209 5/16/2024 STATES ATTY

$120.00MT. CARROLL POSTMASTER 01126005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3270

850101639 5/16/2024 ST ATTY

$369.15THOMSON REUTERS-WEST 01126005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES4326

$497.88Subtotal for Department: 26 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 15 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

27 CIRCUIT CLERKDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

HIHER_MAY2024 5/16/2024 PATRICIA HIHER

$14.48CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01127005014 EDUCATION1464

34120 5/16/2024 CIRCUIT CLERK

$2,260.00GOODIN ASSOCIATES, LTD 01127005325 COMPUTER EQUIP/SOFTWARE E1838

2024 POBOX 32 5/16/2024 CIRCUIT CLERK / PO BOX 32

$94.00MT. CARROLL POSTMASTER 01127005327 POSTAGE3270

S504623 5/16/2024 CIRCUIT CLERK

$15.00PEARSON 01127005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3565

38488777 5/16/2024 CIRCUIT CLERK

$121.08QUILL CORPORATION 01127005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES3540

INV605449 5/16/2024 CIRCUIT CLERK

$29.70STERLING BUSINESS EQUIP. CENT. 01127005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES4192

$2,534.26Subtotal for Department: 27 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 16 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

28 COURT EXPENSES - JUDGESDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

2024 POBOX 211 5/16/2024 P.O. BOX 211 / JUDGE

$120.00MT. CARROLL POSTMASTER 01128005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES-BOOKS/P3270

S504621 5/16/2024 JUDGE

$15.00PEARSON 01128005323 PRINTING & SUPPLIES-BOOKS/P3565

$135.00Subtotal for Department: 28 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 17 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

29 COUNTY EDUCATION SVCS REGIODept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

GENFUND APRIL 2024 5/16/2024 GENERAL FUND APRIL 2024

$1,211.32REGIONAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01129007102 SHARED COSTS - JO DAVIES & S690

APRIL-MAY 2024 5/16/2024 OFFICE RENT

$481.18REGIONAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION # 8 01129007103 SHARED RENT - JO DAVIES & ST691

$1,692.50Subtotal for Department: 29 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 18 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

31 FINANCIAL SOFTWAREDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

393659 5/16/2024 TREASURER

$459.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005525 BACKUP SUPPORT                1091

393659 5/16/2024 TREASURER

$55.00COMPUTER DYNAMICS 01131005431 FINANCIAL SOFTWARE SUPPOR1091

$514.00Subtotal for Department: 31 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 19 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

35 HIGHWAY OFFICE UPKEEPDept:

Fund: 011 GENERAL FUND

5/15/24 5/16/2024 10759001, 10034001, 10033001

$82.22CITY OF MT. CARROLL 01135005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITYWATER  900

10002002_5/17/24 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT OFFICE

$176.26JO-CARROLL ENERGY 01135005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITYWATER  2365

86643320004_6.11.24 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT

$215.51NICOR GAS 01135005006 UTILITIES--GAS                1800

$473.99Subtotal for Department: 35 : 

Total for Fund: 011 : $40,569.83

Page 20 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 013 BRIDGE AID FUND

CLAIM 2202 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / BRIDGE INSPECT

$225.00WILLETT HOFMANN & ASSOC INC. 01300005112 REIMBURSEMENTS4900

CLAIM 2202 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / BRIDGE INSPECT

$225.00WILLETT HOFMANN & ASSOC INC. 01300005114 AID TO TWPS IN BLDING BRIDGE4900

CLAIM 2203 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / PROF SERVICES

$1,931.13WILLETT HOFMANN & ASSOC INC. 01300005112 REIMBURSEMENTS4900

$2,381.13Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 013 : $2,381.13

Page 21 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 014 COUNTY HIGHWAY FUND

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / TIRE REPAIR

$225.25BUSHMAN'S SERVICE 01400005103 HIGHWAY EQUIPMENT MAINTEN620

RENKES_MAY2024 5/16/2024 SARA RENKES

$186.05CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01400005112 REIMBURSEMENTS1464

RENKES_MAY2024 5/16/2024 SARA RENKES

$53.99CARDMEMBER SERVICES 01400005109 ADMINISTRATIVE1464

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / SHOP SUPPLIES

$357.20CARQUEST OF MT.CARROLL 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640474

 CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / SHERIFF & ACO FUEL

$3,466.54CARROLL SERVICE COMPANY 01400005112 REIMBURSEMENTS740

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / FUEL AND GAS

$6,989.39CARROLL SERVICE COMPANY 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE740

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / GARAGE WATER

$82.22CITY OF MT. CARROLL 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE900

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / GARAGE ELECTRIC

$280.03JO-CARROLL ENERGY 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE2365

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / SHOP SUPPLIES

$34.98MT.CARROLL HOME CENTER 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE3078

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / COPIER

$91.92NEIGHBORHOOD OFFICE SOLUTIONS 01400005109 ADMINISTRATIVE3172

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / GARAGE GAS

$775.31NICOR GAS 01400005105 GARAGE OPERATION & MAINTE1800

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / ANTIFREEZE, WASHER SOLVENT

$361.80PLANET EARTH ANTIFREEZE 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE3411

Page 22 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / CA-16

$3,798.20SAVANNA QUARRY 01400005101 MAINTENANCE OF COUNTY HIG3806

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / SUPPLIES

$408.05ULINE 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640356

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / GARAGE UNIFORM RENTAL

$315.72VESTIS 01400005104 MATERIALS, STORES & SUPPLIE640851

CLAIM 4369-C 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / CA-10

$1,967.85WENDLING QUARRIES, INC. 01400005101 MAINTENANCE OF COUNTY HIG4791

$19,394.50Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 014 : $19,394.50

Page 23 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 015 TOWNSHIP MOTOR FUEL T

AX

7482-MT 5/16/2024 CA-6

$669.19ALLIANCE MATERIALS INC 01500005120 MAINT/CONSTRUCTION - ROADS83

7843-MT 5/16/2024 CA-10 / WASHINGTON, WOODLAND

$7,661.26BEDROCK QUARRY PRODUCTS 01500005120 MAINT/CONSTRUCTION - ROADS326

7480-MT 5/16/2024 BRIDGE INSPECTION

$225.00COUNTY BRIDGE FUND 01500005332 ENGINEERING500

7481-MT 5/16/2024 COLD PATCH

$968.05HELM MATERIALS 01500005120 MAINT/CONSTRUCTION - ROADS640145

$9,523.50Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 015 : $9,523.50

Page 24 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 016 COUNTY MOTOR FUEL TA

X

CLAIM 3637-M 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / COLD PATCH

$7,114.55HELM MATERIALS 01600005117 MAINTENANCE640145

CLAIM 2637-M 5/16/2024 HWY DEPT / COLD PATCH

$8,149.95MANATT'S INC 01600005117 MAINTENANCE640450

$15,264.50Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 016 : $15,264.50

Page 25 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 018 COUNTY MATCHING FUND

MAT 503 5/16/2024 TEMPORARY EASEMENT

$300.00BELINDA MILLER 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640858

MAT 506 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$4,060.00CAROLLYNN FINK 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640857

MAT 501 5/16/2024 EASEMENT RECORDING FEES

$1,120.00CARROLL COUNTY CLERK & 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED1010

MAT 502 5/16/2024 PERMANENT EASEMENT

$300.00CRU SCRIBNER 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640855

MAT 509 5/16/2024 PERMANENT EASEMENT

$360.00DAWN JOHNSON 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640861

MAT 511 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$2,750.00HAROLD A. AND MARILYN KAY ANDRESEN 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640863

MAT 504 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$2,450.00JAMES DAEHLER 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640856

MAT 514 5/16/2024 TEMPORARY EASEMENT

$300.00JERRY GIBBS 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640866

MAT 512 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$2,220.00JERRY JACOBS 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640864

MAT 507 5/16/2024 TEMPORARY EASEMENT

$600.00KARIN SCHAVE 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640859

MAT 508 5/16/2024 PERMANENT EASEMENT

$360.00MICHAEL JOHNSON 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640860

MAT 510 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$1,320.00RAYMOND VOS 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640862

Page 26 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

MAT 513 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$2,600.00TERRI JACOBS 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640865

MAT 505 5/16/2024 EASEMENTS

$3,760.00THOMAS FINK 01800005118 PROJECTS TO BE IDENTIFIED640595

$22,500.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 018 : $22,500.00

Page 27 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 019 FICA OR SOCIAL SECURIT

Y FUND

SSLEVY APRIL 2024 5/16/2024 SOCIAL SECURITY LEVY

$75.23REGIONAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01900005131 SUPERINTENDENT SHARE TRUS690

$75.23Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 019 : $75.23

Page 28 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 020 IMRF FUND

IMRFLEVY APRIL 2024 5/16/2024 IMRF LEVY

$85.44REGIONAL OFFICE OF EDUCATION 02000005129 SUPERINTENDENT SHARE TRUS690

$85.44Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 020 : $85.44

Page 29 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 023 COUNTY RECORDER FEES

0709300-IN 5/16/2024 AVID & APEX APRIL 2024

$957.60FIDLAR TECHNOLOGIES 02300006031 RECORDERS--TRANSACTION FE1660

$957.60Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 023 : $957.60

Page 30 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 027 ANIMAL CONTROL

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / APRIL REGISTRATIONS

$270.00Whodapet, Inc 02700005379 REGISTRATION CONTRACT         640363

$270.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 027 : $270.00

Page 31 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 029 VITAL RESOLUSION

62441 5/16/2024 CO CLERK / CERTIFIED DEATH PAPER

$327.50ILLINOIS OFFICE SUPPLY COMPANY 02900005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG2200

51395166 5/16/2024 CO CLERK / VITAL RECORDS FOLDERS

$244.50PFC PRODUCTS 02900005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG3370

$572.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 029 : $572.00

Page 32 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 034 LIABILITY INSURANCE FUN

D

SP4067526_5.24.24 5/16/2024 EXCESS WORKERS COMP

$5,313.00COUNTIES OF IL. MANAGEMENT AGENCY 03400005375 PROPERTY & CAS INSURANCE3671

$5,313.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 034 : $5,313.00

Page 33 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 041 COUNTY 911 ETSB FUND

304013829_5.21.24 5/16/2024 ETSB

$83.19BRIGHTSPEED 04100005373 NETWORKING &TELEPHONE640705

MAGILL-911_MAY2024 5/16/2024 MATTHEW MAGILL

$25.95CARDMEMBER SERVICES 04100005373 NETWORKING &TELEPHONE1464

0A796 5/16/2024 911

$652.00HERRELL ELECTRIC 04100005373 NETWORKING &TELEPHONE41020

84196 5/16/2024 ETSB

$1,625.00LECTRONICS, INC 04100005191 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES41029

11982 5/16/2024 911

$1,536.00NG-911/SOLACOM 04100005373 NETWORKING &TELEPHONE640472

$3,922.14Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 041 : $3,922.14

Page 34 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 043 COURT SECURITY FEE

79722 5/16/2024 SHERIFF

$1,807.80LECTRONICS, INC. 04300005303 PUBLIC SAFETY--EQUIPMENT2610

$1,807.80Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 043 : $1,807.80

Page 35 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 044 GEOGRAPHIC INFO SYSTE

M

SIDXT0007321 5/16/2024 ASSESSOR

$1,072.50SIDWELL COMPANY 04400005191 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES          3981

$1,072.50Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 044 : $1,072.50

Page 36 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 054 COUNTY HEALTH FUND

304001747_5.21.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$122.81BRIGHTSPEED 05400005085 TELEPHONE640705

DHOLLAND_MAY 2024 5/16/2024 DAWN HOLLAND

$68.10CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400006258 SIPA VISION                   1464

DHOLLAND_MAY 2024 5/16/2024 DAWN HOLLAND

$617.73CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

LIEB_MAY2024 5/16/2024 DOUGLAS LIEB

$92.00CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005012 TRAVEL1464

LIEB_MAY2024 5/16/2024 DOUGLAS LIEB

$440.11CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

LIEB_MAY2024 5/16/2024 DOUGLAS LIEB

$22.70CARDMEMBER SERVICES 05400006258 SIPA VISION                   1464

MAY 2024 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT / REIMBURSE HEALTH INS

$83.16CHLOE KNASEN 05400006256 SIPA ENHANCED INSURANCE      640801

10436001_5.15.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$69.26CITY OF MT.CARROLL 05400005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE54144

393656 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$30.52COMPUTER DYNAMICS OF N.W. IL. 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54143

393627 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$1,572.25COMPUTER DYNAMICS OF N.W. IL. 05400005335 EQUIPMENT54143

MAY 2024 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT / REIMBRUSE HEALTH INS

$83.16DAWN HOLLAND 05400006256 SIPA ENHANCED INSURANCE      54000

MAY 2024 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT / REIMBURSE HEALTH INS

$83.16DOUGLAS LIEB 05400006256 SIPA ENHANCED INSURANCE      54039

Page 37 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

10002006_5.17.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$310.65JO CARROLL ENERGY 05400005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE54117

10002007_5.242.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$74.99JO CARROLL ENERGY 05400005085 TELEPHONE54117

17264199393_6.11.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$111.61NICOR 05400005004 UTILITIES--ELECTRICITY & WATE54118

247202183 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$552.00PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL640633

I9589074 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$103.50PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL640633

9209475360 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$695.21QUEST DIAGNOSTICS 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54134

5.16.24 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT / MILEAGE

$43.55REX A. KREUDER 05400005012 TRAVEL640615

922432513 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$285.71SANOFI PASTEUR INC 05400005396 MEDICAL SUPPLIES & COMMODI54019

MAY 2024 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT / REIMBURSE HEALTH INS

$83.16SARAH MCCASKEY 05400006256 SIPA ENHANCED INSURANCE      640106

8006816766 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$86.55Stericycle 05400005344 CONTRACTUAL54008

0648742883 5/16/2024 HEALTH DEPT

$38.10US CELLULAR 05400005085 TELEPHONE54005

$5,669.99Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 054 : $5,669.99

Page 38 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 056 PET POPULATION CONTR

OL FUND

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / NEUTER

$100.00MT. CARROLL VETERINARY CLINIC 05600005503 SPAY & NEUTERING4680

CLAIM 5.16.24 5/16/2024 ANIMAL CONTROL / NEUTER

$231.00NORTHERN ILLINOIS VET SERVICES 05600005503 SPAY & NEUTERING2951

$331.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 056 : $331.00

Page 39 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 074 TRANSPORTATION GRANT

MAGILL_PCOM_MAY2024 5/16/2024 MATTHEW MAGILL

$898.56CARDMEMBER SERVICES 07400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1464

CCTAPR2924 5/16/2024 REIMBURSE TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES

$29.39CARROLL COUNTY SENIOR SERVICES ORG 07400005171 EXPENSES FROM DONATIONS    30001

CCTAPR2924 5/16/2024 REIMBURSE TRANSPORTATION EXPENSES

$22,062.92CARROLL COUNTY SENIOR SERVICES ORG 07400005510 DISBURSEMENTS30001

393622 5/16/2024 PCOM

$189.99COMPUTER DYNAMICS 07400005323 PRINTING, SUPPLIES & POSTAG1091

042466508 5/16/2024 PCOM

$233.28THE GALENA GAZETTE 07400005189 TRANSIT GARAGE                640854

$23,414.14Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 074 : $23,414.14

Page 40 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

00 NonDepartmentalDept:

Fund: 087 PUBLIC DEFENDER SAFET

Y ACT

15CCHAMP1 5/16/2024 JUDGE / CASE 20 CF 132

$148.00MARY ELLEN DOUGLASS 08700005510 DISBURSEMENTS                 640740

5.8.24 5/16/2024 JUDGE / CASE 2020 CF 132

$168.00MICHELLE R. BUMAN 08700005510 DISBURSEMENTS                 640867

$316.00Subtotal for Department: 00 : 

Total for Fund: 087 : $316.00

Page 41 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

Fund Totals
Fund Fund TotalFund Name

011 $40,569.83GENERAL FUND

013 $2,381.13BRIDGE AID FUND

014 $19,394.50COUNTY HIGHWAY FUND

015 $9,523.50TOWNSHIP MOTOR FUEL 

016 $15,264.50COUNTY MOTOR FUEL TA

018 $22,500.00COUNTY MATCHING FUN

019 $75.23FICA OR SOCIAL SECURIT

020 $85.44IMRF FUND

023 $957.60COUNTY RECORDER FEES

027 $270.00ANIMAL CONTROL

029 $572.00VITAL RESOLUSION

034 $5,313.00LIABILITY INSURANCE FU

041 $3,922.14COUNTY 911 ETSB FUND

043 $1,807.80COURT SECURITY FEE

044 $1,072.50GEOGRAPHIC INFO SYSTE

054 $5,669.99COUNTY HEALTH FUND

056 $331.00PET POPULATION CONTR

074 $23,414.14TRANSPORTATION GRAN

Page 42 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



Invoice Inv Date

Invoice Amt

Open Invoices by Fund/Department (APLT22) Carroll County

Invoice Description

Vendor Account Account Description

087 $316.00PUBLIC DEFENDER SAFET

$153,440.30Total:

Page 43 of 43Operator: janeadolph 5/13/2024 1:05:11 PM

Report ID: (APLT22)



May 9, 2024 

HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT MONTHLY REPORT 
May 16th, 2024 

MFT LETTING UPDATE 

1. Agenda Item: Approval of the Local Public Agency Formal Contract with America’s Parking
Remarking utilized MFT funds in the amount of $47,787.99.

Pavement marking lowest bid was sent in by America’s Parking Remarking with a bid of $47,787.99, 
$3,273.15 lower than the next lowest bidder. The last page of the packet shows the county map of roads 
that will be striped. Typically, the county tries to update pavement markings every other year on half of 
the county roads that are already striped. This includes painting roads seal coated this year and a second 
coat for the roads seal coated last year. The department recommends approval. 

HIGHWAY TECHNICIAN 

We will be losing our highway technician, Glen Hoffman, tomorrow. I have been working with our 
administrator to determine the most effective way to proceed in his absence. 

GARAGE DOOR FOR MAINTENANCE GARAGE 

We have entered into an agreement with Dan’s Doors and have paid $7,509.26 so that he can place the 
order for the two new garage doors. 

TREES AT THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT 

I have talked to ASCA and they have recommended planting Eastern Red Cedars at the highway 
department. I’ve reached out to Forest Green; no trees in stock, Switzer; no reply at this time, and 
Spangler; 3 in stock at $68 per tree. If the estimate from Extreme Trees is still the same, it will be a total 
of $2,004. Leaf guards were estimated at $4,240. So, the county can save $2,236 by cutting the trees, 
planting new, and not placing the leaf guards on the gutter. My plan is to proceed with calling Extreme 
Tree and Spangler’s Landscaping. 

GovDeals AUCTION ITEMS FOR THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT 

#68 Dump Truck 
RESULT: The buyer did not go through with the payment. Requesting permission to relist utilizing 
GovDeals, placing a poster of the listing in the courthouse and at the highway department, and putting 
the link and listing onto the county website under the Highway Department section. 

Bomag – RESULT: Will know more on 5/10 

Tanker trailer – RESULT: Has been picked up 
Air compressor – RESULT: Has been picked up 

Dodge Ram – RESULT: Should be picked up 5/10 



1 | P a g e Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 

Tri-County Opportunities Council 
Board of Directors Meeting 

April 25, 2024 

Chair Harmon called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. Mr. Harmon welcomed the new Whiteside 
County Category A Board Member, Denise Russell.  

The membership recited the Pledge of Allegiance.   

Ms. Calkins, President/CEO, took roll call.  A quorum was present.  

Members Present: (In-person participants are bolded) 
Charlotte Balensiefen, Sue Britt, Mary Cork, Bernene Dahl, Kim Dahl, David Ditzler, Lynnae Garrett, Al 
Harmon, Marcia Heuer, John Hockstadt, Tom Howes, Betty Johnson, Lisa Johnson, Betsy Kinder, Ron 
Kleppin, Kenneth Krogulski, Michael McEmery, Inga Neuner, Ronald Preston, Juanita Randklev, Becky 
Rich, Denise Russell, David Torres, Jeanne Vargas, Derek Whited. 

Members Absent: 
Reed Akre, Susan Bursztynsky, Robin Camplain, BJ Holocker, Julie Jacobs, Brad Lindstrom, Ginny 
McPerryman, Linda Pennell, Marissa Trumper, Laura Watters, and Lorene Winfield. 

Others Present: 
Rachael DeSpain, Vanessa Hoffeditz, Brandi Newell, Tammy Saenz, Wayne Thompson, Neddie Watts. 

Minutes: 
The March 26, 2024 Board minutes were previously sent to all members for review.  Ms. Lisa Johnson 
made a motion to approve the minutes. Ms. Betty Johnson seconded the motion. A roll call vote was 
taken, and the motion carried.   

Financial Report: 
The February 2024 Financial Reports were provided to the membership for review prior to tonight’s 
meeting. Mr. Hockstadt made a motion to accept the February 2024 Financial Reports and file them for 
audit. Ms. Heuer seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion carried. 

Fiscal Report: Dawn Kanzler’s report was given by Ms. Calkins 
Board action was sought to ratify the Executive Committee's approval on April 11, 2024, to accept the 
Agency’s 2022 403 (B) Thrift Plan Financial Statements and ERISA-required Supplemental Schedule. Ms. 
Lisa Johnson made a motion to accept the Financial Statements and ERISA Supplemental Schedule. Ms. 
Charlotte Balensiefen seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion carried.  

Board action was also sought to ratify the Executive Committee’s approval on April 11, 2014, to file the 
revised IRS 5500 Annual Return/Report of Employee Benefit Plan for TCOC’s Thrift Plan for the year 
ending December 31, 2022. Ms. Lisa Johnson made a motion to approve the filing of the revised IRS 
5500 Annual Return/Report. Mr. Howes seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion 
carried.  



2 | P a g e        Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 
   
 

 
The ending book balance for March was ($248,807.59). A balance of $497,053.99 was owed on the line 
of credit to Sauk Valley Bank as of March 31, 2024.  The cash flow has been challenging for the last few 
months as it is taking twice as long to receive cash requests from the state.  
 
Ms. Kanzler requested a virtual meeting for the Audit/Finance Committee on May 9, 2024, at 2:00 p.m. 
to review and approve the Agency’s Cost Allocation Plan. The agenda and document will be emailed to 
committee members the first week of May. 
 
The Audit/Finance Committee will also meet at 5:00 p.m. on May 28, 2024, in Sterling to review and 
accept the draft copy of the audit from Sikich. A light supper will be provided.  The draft version of the 
audit will be mailed with the May Board packets.  
 
Program Reports: 
 
Community Services Block Grant (CSBG): Neddie Watts 
Ms. Watts sought Board action to ratify approval given by the Executive Committee on April 11, 2024, to 
increase the previously approved grant application for Rapid Rehousing from $365,000 to $500,000. This 
grant will be effective July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025. Ms. Randklev made a motion to approve the 
increase. Ms. Betty Johnson seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion carried.  
 
She also explained that action was needed to apply for Bureau County United Way Emergency Food and 
Shelter Program (EFSP) funding to support the Bureau County Food Pantry. No specific dollar allocation 
is included in the application, as the Bureau County United Way Board allocates based on approved 
applicants. Ms. Vargas made a motion to approve the submission of an application to Burureau County 
United Way for EFSP funding. Ms. Betty Johnson seconded the motion. A vote was called,  and the 
motion carried.  
 
Lastly, Ms. Watts sought Board approval to accept the CSBG grant modification for an additional 
$48,362 from the 2023 carryover. Mr. Kleppin made a motion to accept the CSBG grant modification. 
Mr. Howes seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion carried.  
 
Ms. Watts reported that a back-to-back form with information from all grants was included in tonight’s 
Board packets. Each report indicates the amount they proposed to serve and the actual number of 
persons served from the grant year. The report is a quarterly report used to provide information to 
grant managers.  
 
She indicated that Department of Human Services (DHS) Homeless Prevention Program funding has 
been exhausted. She explained that there is still plenty of other funding to help those who are literally 
homeless, living in a shelter, in a car, at a park, etc. She also moved some funds around in the 
Emergency & Transitional Housing Grant (Voucher Shelter) to support those unable to stay in a shelter. 
 



3 | P a g e        Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 
   
 

Ms. Watts informed the Board that she has paused the STEP Program until she receives funds to modify 
the CSBG grant, hopefully within the next few months. She had initially allocated roughly $21,000 to this 
program to support those wanting to obtain a certification to become employed and make a higher 
living wage. From January 1 through March 31, she has spent $35,263 on CDL classes and still has two 
more to pay. CDLs cost approximately $6,000 for each individual. She could continue to assist with these 
certifications, but that would pull additional funds allocated to other CSBG programs, such as home 
maintenance, transportation, food, personal hygiene/diapers, youth programs, or even supporting those 
affected by a disaster. Outreach Staff have been asked to start working closely with colleges to seek 
additional scholarships or grants that those interested in obtaining a certification can apply for and to 
work with the local Business Employment Skills Team (BEST) for funding options.  
 
Ms. Watts reported on some great things happening at the Bureau County Food Pantry. In March, the 
pantry provided 100 Easter food baskets to households, a 20-household increase from last year. The 
baskets included items to make an Easter meal, including a ham. The Food Pantry is also facilitating the 
Box of Kindness program in partnership with Valley Fresh Harvest, which is an organized group of local 
farm producers and growers who sell organically, locally grown, and raised food items. These items 
include fresh vegetables, meat, cheese, eggs, dairy, etc. They are providing a Box of Kindness to food 
pantry patrons through a grant. The Food Pantry is the first pantry they are working with to pilot the 
program and work through the "kinks" as they plan to increase to other pantries in food deserts. This 
program benefits both the local growers and the pantry patrons. This program started at the end of 
March, and patrons will be signed up for a one-time-a-month distribution. The maximum number of 
boxes available is 50. Over the past two months, 74 households and 163 individuals have been served. 
Valley Fresh Harvest also provides products to the general public through their website, Fresh Harvest. 
Individuals who order online can pick up at multiple locations in Bureau County.    
 
Finally, she informed the Board that the Food Pantry applied for a grant to the Rotary Club of Princeton 
and was chosen as one of this year's recipients of the Love Our Community Grant for $1,000! The funds 
will support the Pantry's Bounty Full Bags Program so homeless individuals can receive food.  Bags 
would be provided to the police, crisis workers in the community who encounter homeless individuals, 
and the Living Room in Princeton.  
 
Foster Grandparents: Brandi Newell 
Ms. Newell attended the American Society on Aging Conference in March, which focused on age-related 
education. The conference was informative and inspirational and provided opportunities to network 
with other AmeriCorps Senior professionals. She hopes to implement much of what she learned at this 
conference in future in-service trainings with FGP Volunteers. 
 
The Foster Grandparent Program remains in recruitment mode with a plan to onboard new volunteers 
in early June. She asked members to please continue to send any interested parties to the Agency’s 
website where they may initiate contact with the FGP program. 
 
The program had their final regular in-service meeting of the school year on April 5.  On May 15, the 
program will celebrate volunteers with the annual spring recognition banquet. Board members are 



4 | P a g e        Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 
   
 

invited and encouraged to attend but were asked to let Ms. Newell know next week if they plan to 
attend so she has an accurate count of participants for the event.  
 
At the final in-service, volunteers responded to the annual survey about the program. Typical questions 
have focused on what the program offered at in-service training. In addition, this year, they were asked 
about the impact of the program on their lives on a personal level. Results from that survey and 
information from the Surgeon General’s report on loneliness and social isolation were included in 
tonight’s handouts.  
 
Early Head Start/Head Start Program: Rachael DeSpain 
Staffing and enrollment issues continue. There are vacant positions in 7 of 9 counties. Online postings on 
Indeed and our agency website remain the primary tools for advertising employment opportunities. The 
Social Media Coordinator has increased the number of postings related to employment opportunities on 
Facebook, Instagram, and X (formally known as Twitter).  
 
One Early Head Start and five Head Start classrooms are not operating. The inability to manage is 
directly related to staffing issues. Five Parent-Child Educator positions remain vacant for Mendota, 
LaSalle, Ogle, Rochelle, and Stark Counties.  
 
Ms. DeSpain, along with Ms. Calkins, have amplified conversations focused on the program's current 
design, the options offered, and the present opportunities to apply for additional state-issued funding 
streams. Amanda Schommer, Data Quality Manager, Jill Calkins, CEO, and Rachael DeSpain, Program 
Director, have attended recent calls/webinars hosted by the Illinois Head Start Association and ISBE 
(Illinois State Board of Education.)  
 
Emphasis on locating, attending, and bringing awareness to Agency services during community events 
remains a top priority. Please continue to offer any information regarding upcoming community events 
in your area. The program has filled both Recruiter and Event Coordinator positions. These employees 
will work closely with other Agency employees to ensure active engagement at events throughout all 
nine counties. They will also lead efforts to host Agency events throughout the service area. They would 
love to have anyone from the Board interested in participating in those events to let them know.  
 
The five-year project period grant was approved on March 22, 2024. The program was awarded 
$8,130,756.00 for the budget period of April 1, 2024, through March 31, 2025.  
 
Visits with Representative Sorensen and State Representative Fritts were a huge success. They are 
confident that these connections will serve the children, families, and clients of our Community Action 
Agency well. A picture collage was provided in tonight’s handouts.  
 
Also included in tonight’s handouts, were copies of the March 2024 Board Report, March 2024 Policy 
Council minutes, the March 2024 Budget Breakdown, the current Impasse Policy, the enrollment status 
report, and a register of vacant positions. Ms. DeSpain informed the membership that she will request 



5 | P a g e        Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 
   
 

approval of the Impasse Policy at the May meeting. In conclusion, she reminded Board members to fill 
out the In-Kind/Volunteer sheet for any time spent reading over materials previously handed out.  
 
Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP): Tammy Saenz 
Ms. Saenz provided a brief overview of the LIHEAP program. She shared information about the 
documents required to complete an application, disconnection status, emergency applications, poverty 
levels and the matrix, furnace applications,  and the PIPP program.  
 
Weatherization/Housing Program: Wayne Thompson 
Mr. Thompson reported that the Weatherization Department is still moving along with the production 
of weatherization jobs. Their new contractor, CMM Construction, has attended the required HVAC and 
Architectural courses and is now completing work for the program.   
 
Mr. Thompson has submitted the 2025 Weatherization Plan, all three Weatherization grant applications, 
and budgets to DCEO, the Department of Commerce & Economic Opportunity. The applications were for 
the Department of Energy, the Department of Health & Human Services, and the State of Illinois grants,  
plus the DOE-BIL Modification grant, all of which were due April 5, 2024.  
 
Mr. Thompson mentioned that the Weatherization Department continues using the comprehensive 
program component, Weatherization Plus, and Weatherization Ready funds.  These additions to the 
program have allowed them to make repairs to homes that would otherwise be deferred.  All situations 
are dealt with on a case-by-case basis, and any repairs over $5,000 require bids and waiver approval 
from DCEO.   
 
The program has completed the assessment process for the 70-unit multi-project, Victor Meadow Senior 
Apartments in Princeton. They received some very welcomed help from the tech-field staff from DCEO 
and the teachers and training staff from the Indoor Climate and Training Center (ICRT) at the University 
of Illinois, Champaign. As mentioned last month, they will use a different approach to complete these 
units. They will be the first project in Illinois to use the new Department of Energies Low Rise Multi-Unit 
Priority List Protocols.  This process will save the Agency valuable time because they can do the 
calculations in-house. The Priority List consists of super-insulating the attics to R-60, basements to R-30, 
upgrading lighting, etc. They hope to start work within a couple of weeks. 
 
They continue to work on preparing our rental units for tenants and have moved in three families since 
the last report.         

  
President/CEO’s Report: Jill Calkins 
Ms. Calkins reported that they recently had two resignations, one from Mary Jo Credi, who represented 
LaSalle County Category B, and one from Bob Henkelman, who represented Bureau County Category B. 
In addition to those vacancies, the Lee County Category B seat is still vacant. Ms. Calkins is working with 
someone interested in the Lee County vacancy.  
 



6 | P a g e        Board Meeting Minutes/April 25, 2024 
   
 

TCOC will have its second annual All-Staff Celebration/Training Event on May 3rd. Ms. Calkins thanked 
Ms. Trumper, Ms. McPerryman, and Ms. Lisa Johnson for their help choosing winners of the staff 
awards. They look forward to recognizing staff for years of service and other awards, doing activities to 
break down program silos, and sharing information across programs.  
 
Ms. Calkins and several other staff members will attend the Annual IACAA Conference in Springfield 
from May 5 to 7.  
 
She reminded the membership that June is the annual meeting of the Board of Directors.  Board service 
awards will be given, officers elected, and other annual Board business, such as check signers, grant 
signatories, etc., will be on the agenda. The May handouts will include nomination forms to self-
nominate and/or nominate another member for any Officer position.  
 
Old Business:  
The Agency received 20 scholarship applications. The 15 students on tonight’s Board packet handout 
submitted all required documentation. Ariana Heersink submitted some missing documentation late and 
was not reviewed and scored by the Scholarship Committee. She is listed as the last alternate. Ms. 
Calkins thanked Ms. Watters, Ms. Vargas, Ms. McPerryman, and Ms. Trumper for their time and energy 
spent reviewing the applications. Ms. Calkins aggregated all their scores and, based on those scores, 
provided the winner recommendation to the full Board. Recommended for a scholarship were the 
following: Kaylee Dowda, Rashida Martin, Jadah Shipley, Susan Sanchez, Jazzmyn DeFord, Sophia 
Pantoja, Janda Hicks, Collin Tran-Howland, Alexis Murphy, Hazel Nieves, Katie Hutchinson, and Tasha 
Selden. Alternates were Aaron Lorenz and Arianna Heersink. Crystal Crow was disqualified.  

Ms. Calkins sought approval for the 2024 Tri-County Opportunities Council scholarship winners as 
recommended by the Board Scholarship Committee.  Ms. Bernene Dahl made a motion to approve the 
Scholarship winners as presented. Mr. Kleppin seconded the motion. A vote was called, and the motion 
carried.  

Ms. Calkins will send award letters to all winners and alternates next week and invite them to the July 
Meeting, which will be held at the Mendota Civic Center. She reminded members that the July meeting 
would be an in-person meeting only.  
 
New Business:  
There was no new business at this time.  
 
Next Meeting: 
The next Board meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, May 28, 2024, at the Wesley United Methodist 
Church, 2200 16th Avenue, Sterling, IL., at 6:00 p.m. 

The meeting adjourned at 7:06 p.m. 

 

 

  























































































Amended 05.18.2023 

700-1 

ARTICLE 1 – GENERAL 

Chapter 700 ZONING 

Section 700-1.01 Title 
Section 700-1.02 Authority 
Section 700-1.03 Intent of the County Board 
Section 700-1.04 Minimum Standards 
Section 700-1.05  Specific to Apply over General 
Section 700-1.06 Sever ability 
Section 700-1.07 Application to Unincorporated Areas 
Section 700-1.08 Liberal Construction 
Section 700-1.09 Private Rights 

ARTICLE 2 – EXEMPTED AREAS 

Section 700-2.01 Certain Areas Exempted 
Section 700-2.02  Agricultural Use Not Affected 
Section 700-2.03  Utilities 

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS 

Section 700-3.01 Rules of Construction 
Section 700-3.02  Definitions 

ARTICLE 4 – ZONING DISTRICTS 

Section 700-4.01  Zoning Districts 
Section 700-4.02 Map 
Section 700-4.03 Boundaries 

ARTICLE 5 – AG-1 AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Section 700-5.01 AG-1 District Intent 
Section 700-5.02 Permitted Uses in an AG-1 District 
Section 700-5.03 Uses by Special Permit in an AG-1 District 
Section 700-5.04  Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-5.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 6 – B-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Section 700-6.01 B-1 District Intent
Section 700-6.02 Permitted Uses in a B-1 District 
Section 700-6.03 Uses by Special Permit in a B-1 District 
Section 700-6.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-6.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 7 – C-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-2 

 

 

Section 700-7.01 C-1 District Intent 
Section 700-7.02  Permitted Uses in a C-1 District 
Section 700-7.03 Uses by Special Permit in a C-1 District 
Section 700-7.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-7.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 8 – I-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-8.01 I-1 District Intent 
Section 700-8.02 Permitted Uses in I-1 District 
Section 700-8.03 Uses by Special Permit in I-1 District 
Section 700-8.04 Minimum Lot Sizes 
Section 700-8.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 9 – I-2 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-9.01 I-2 District Intent 
Section 700-9.02 Permitted Uses in I-2 District 
Section 700-9.03 Uses by Special Permit in I-2 District 
Section 700-9.04 Minimum Lot Requirement 
Section 700-9.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 10 - AP-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 70010.01 AP-1 District Intent 
Section 700-10.02 Permitted Uses in an AP-1 District 
Section 700-10.03 Uses by Special Permit in AP-1 District 
Section 700-10.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-10.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 11 – R-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-11.01 R-1 District Intent 
Section 700-11.02  Permitted Uses in an R-1 District 
Section 700-11.03 Uses by Special Permit in an R-1 District 
Section 700-11.04 Minimum Lot Requirement 
Section 700-11.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 12 – R-2 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 700-12.02 R-2 District Intent 
Section 700-12.02  Permitted Uses in an R-2 District 
Section 700-12.03  Uses by Special Permit in an R-2 District 
Section 700-12.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-12.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

 
 
ARTICLE 13 – REC-1 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-3 

 

 

Section 700-13.01 REC-1 District Intent 
Section 700-13.02 Permitted Uses in a REC-1 District 
Section 700-13.03 Uses by Special Permit in a REC-1 District 
Section 700-13.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
Section 700-13.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

ARTICLE 14 – MHP-1 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 700-14.01 Purpose 
Section 700-14.02 Use Permitted 
Section 700-14.03 Acreage Required 
Section 700-14.04 Set Back Requirements 
Section 700-14.05 Building Height 
Section 700-14.06 Signs 
Section 700-14.07 Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Section 700-14.09 Miscellaneous Conditions 

ARTICLE 15 – SPECIAL REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-15.01 Special Regulations Apply to all Districts 
Section 700-15.02  Residential Features 
Section 700-15.03 Glare. 
Section 700-15.04 Explosives 
Section 700-15.05 Vibration 
Section 700-15.06 Refuse 
Section 700-15.07 Traffic Visibility at Intersections 
Section 700-15.08 Drainage 
Section 700-15.09  Construction within Floodplain 
Section 700-15.10 Parking 
Section 700-15.11 Off-Street Loading and Unloading Requirements 
Section 700-15.12 Signs – Miscellaneous Requirements 
Section 700-15.13 Minimum Residential Floor Area 
Section 700-15.14 Manufactured Housing 
Section 700-15.15 Non-Conforming Lots 
Section 700-15.16 Separation of Buildings 
Section 700-15.17  Conservation of Natural Features and Amenities 
Section 700-15.18 Basement Homes 
Section 700-15.19  Setback from Roadways 
Section 700-15.20 Street Access 
Section 700-15.21 Reserve (Flag) Lots 
Section 700-15.22  Sewage Treatment and Water Supply 
Section 700-15.23 Recreational Vehicles 
Section 700-15.24 Tiny Homes 

 
ARTICLE 16 – PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

Section 700-16.01 Planned Residential Development 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-4 

 

 

 
ARTICLE 17 – ZONING OFFICER 

 
Section 700-17.01 Appointment 
Section 700-17.02 Duties 

ARTICLE 18 – ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
 
Section 700-18.01 Establishment of Zoning Board of Appeals 
Section 700-18.02 Duties 
Section 700-18.03 Zoning Board of Appeals – Appeals 
Section 700-18.04 Appeal Process 

ARTICLE 19 – VARIANCES 
 
Section 700-19.01 Variances 
Section 700-19.02 Exhibits Required. 
Section 700-19.03 Application Procedure. 
Section 700-19.04  Variance of Ten Percent or less. 
Section 700-19.05  Standards for Granting Variances 
Section 700-19.06 Reapplication 

ARTICLE 20 – NON-CONFORMING STRUCTURES AND USES 
 
Section 700-20.01 Non-Conforming Structures and Uses 

 
ARTICLE 21 – SPECIAL USE PERMITS 

 
Section 700-21.01 Special Use Permits 
Section 700-21.02  Exhibits Required. 
Section 700-21.03 Application Procedure 
Section 700-21.04  Standards for Granting Special Use Permits 
Section 700-21.05  Noncompliance/Revocation of Special Use Permit 
Section 700-21.06 Reapplication 

 
ARTICLE 22 – TEMPORARY USE PERMITS 

Section 700-22.01 Temporary Use Permit 
Section 700-22.02 Exhibits Required 
Section 700-22.03 Application Procedure 
Section 700-22.04 Fee 

ARTICLE 23 – AMENDMENTS 
 
Section 700-23.01 Amendments 
Section 700-23.02 Initiating an Amendment 
Section 700-23.03 Procedure to Initiate Amendment 
Section 700-23.04 Exhibits Required 
Section 700-23.05 Application Procedure 
Section 700-23.06 Reapplication 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-5 

 

 

 
ARTICLE 24 – VIOLATIONS 

 
Section 700-24.01 Fines and Separate Offenses 
Section 700-24.02 Service of Complaint 
Section 700-24.03 Civil Suits Authorized 
Section 700-24.04  Fines for Building Agricultural Structures without permit 

 
 

Chapter 700 

ZONING 
ARTICLE 1 – GENERAL 

 
Section 700-1.01 Title 
This ordinance, including the Zoning Use Districts Map, shall be known as the Carroll County 
Amendatory Zoning Ordinance and shall be construed to amend and re-codify the zoning 
ordinance in effect in the County of Carroll on the date of its adoption. 

 
Section 700-1.02 Authority 
The amendatory ordinance is established pursuant to the authority granted by the General 
Assembly to the County Board under the Counties Code (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq.) 

 
Section 700-1.03 Intent of the County Board 
It is the Intention of the County Board in adopting this ordinance: 

(a) To promote the public health, safety, convenience, comfort and welfare; 
(b) To conserve the value of properties throughout the county; 
(c) To protect the character and the stability of existing residential, agricultural, 

business and industrial use in accordance with long range plans for land use 
approved by the County Board; 

(d) To promote the orderly and beneficial development of new areas for residential, 
business and industrial use in accordance with long range plans for land use 
approved by the County Board; 

(e) To lessen or avoid the hazards to persons and damage to property resulting from 
the accumulation or runoff of storm or flood waters; 

(f) To preserve and protect areas of significant natural, cultural or historical value; 
(g) To provide a simple and expedient procedure by which land use may be regulated 

and violations of this ordinance may be remedied. 
 
Section 700-1.04 Minimum Standards 
The requirements of this ordinance shall constitute the findings of the County Board as to the 
minimums required in order to serve the intent of the County Board as set forth in Section 700- 
1.03. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-6 

 

 

Section 700-1.05 Specific to Apply over General 
Where a regulation of this ordinance may conflict with a regulation imposed by another 
ordinance of the County of Carroll, the more specific provision of either shall apply over the 
more general. 

 
Section 700-1.06 Severability 
Should any provision of this ordinance be found invalid for any reason or should any provision 
of this ordinance be stricken by an act of the County Board, the remainder of this ordinance shall 
remain effective as if the subject provision had never been included in this ordinance. 

Section 700-1.07 Application to Unincorporated Areas 
This ordinance shall apply to the unincorporated area of the county and to any municipality in 
the county that elects to use it. 

Section 700-1.08 Liberal Construction 
The provisions of this ordinance shall be liberally construed to protect the right of the property 
owner to use his land in a manner consistent with the basic requirements of the public health, 
safety and welfare. 

 
Section 700-1.09 Private Rights 
The ordinance is not intended to abrogate any easement, covenant, or other private agreement, 
provided that where the regulations of this ordinance are more restrictive or impose higher 
standards or requirements than such private agreement, the regulation of this ordinance shall 
govern. 

ARTICLE 2 – EXEMPTED AREAS 
 
Section 700-2.01 Certain Areas Exempted 
The only provisions within this ordinance which shall apply to or have any control over lands 
owned by or under option to the developer of a recreational development area, any portion of 
which had been platted or subdivided as of June 11, 1973 and which had on file as of a 
preliminary master plan, are sections 14.02, 14.03, 14.04, 14.05, 14.06, 14.07, 14.08, 14.09, 
14.10, 14.11, 14.12, 14.13, 14.14, 14.15, 14.16, 14.17, 14.18, 16.01, 16.02, 16.03, 16.04, 16.05, 17.01, 
17.02, 18.01, 18.02, 18.03, 18.04, 19.01, 19.02, 19.03, 19.04, 19.05, 20.01, 21.01, 21.02, 21.03, 
21.04, 21.05, 23.01, 23.02, 23.03, 23.04, 23.05, 24.01, 24.02, 24.03, 24.04 

 
Section 700-2.02 Agricultural Uses Not Affected 
Nothing contained within this ordinance shall prevent the use of the land for agricultural 
purposes; however, the roadway setback regulations contained in this ordinance shall apply to 
all agricultural structures. 

 
Section 700-2.03 Utilities 
Nothing contained within this ordinance shall have any control over the type or location of any 
poles, towers, wires, cables, conduits, vaults, laterals or any other similar distributing equipment 
of a public utility as defined in “An Act Concerning Public Utilities” enacted by the General 
Assembly of the State of Illinois, except certain facilities of the telecommunications carriers shall 
be located only with the provisions of Section 5-12001.1 of the Counties Code [55 ILCS 5/5- 
12001.1]. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-7 

 

 

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS 

Section 700-3.01 Rules of Construction 
This ordinance shall be interpreted in accordance with the following rules, except when the 
context clearly indicates otherwise. 

(a) Words used in the present tense shall include the future. 
(b) Words used in the singular shall include the plural and the singular. 
(c) The word “shall” is mandatory and not merely directory. 
(d) The word “may” is permissive. 

Section 700-3.02 Definitions 
“Accessory Building or Use” – Any subordinate building or use which is customarily 
incident to the principal building or use and which is located on the same lot as such 
principal building or use. 

“Agricultural Structures and Agricultural Use” – Any structure or use principally devoted 
to one of the following: the growing of farm crops, truck garden crops, animal and 
poultry husbandry, apiculture, aquaculture, dairying, floriculture, horticulture, nurseries, 
pasturage, viticulture, greenhouses (wholesale); and accessory uses customarily 
incidental to agricultural activities. A dwelling is not an agricultural dwelling unless a 
substantial portion of the income of the resident is derived from agriculture. 

“Agricultural Tenant” – One who leases land or its structures for the purposes of 
agricultural pursuits as defined under agriculture. 

 
“Alley” – A public right-of-way usually 16 to 20 feet wide that normally affords a 
secondary means of assess to abutting property. 

 
“Animal Unit” – A measurement of livestock numbers based on the equivalent of a 
mature cow (approximately 1, 000 pounds or 454 kilograms live weight); roughly one 
cow, one horse, one mule, five sheep, five swine, or six goats. 

 
“Automobile Service Station” – A building designed primarily for the supplying of motor 
fuel, oil, lubrication, and accessories to motor vehicles. 

 
“Bed and Breakfast” – An owner-occupied residence providing accommodations for a 
charge to the public with no more than 5 guest rooms for rent, in operation for MORE 
than 10 nights in a 1-year period. The term bed and breakfast shall not include guest 
house/home, motels, hotels, boarding houses, or food service establishments. 

 
“Berm” – A mound of earth or the act of pushing earth into a mound. 

“Billboard” – An advertising sign located off the premises where the advertised product is 
sold or offered. It is usually but not necessarily owned by an advertising agency. 

 
“Buildable Area” – The space remaining on a lot after the minimum open space 
requirements have been met (setbacks and side yard, buffer zones, etc.) 

 
“Building” – Any structure built for the support, shelter or enclosure of persons, animals, 
chattels, or movable property of any kind, and which is permanently affixed to the land. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-8 

 

 

 
“Building, Non-conforming” – A building so constructed or so located on a lot that it does 
not comply with the building requirements or with the minimum lot requirements of the 
district within which it is located. 

“Building, Principal” – A non-accessory building in which a primary use of the lot on 
which it is located is conducted. 

 
“Commerce” – An enterprise that involves the offering of a product, service or 
entertainment for compensation. 

 
“Common Lots” – two or more contiguous lots served by common water and sewage 
infrastructure. 

“Dwelling” – A building, or portion thereof, designed or used predominantly for 
residential occupancy, including one family dwelling, two-family dwellings and multiple 
family dwellings, but not including hotels, motels, boarding or rooming houses, tourist 
homes or mobile homes (house trailers). 

 
“Dwelling, attached” – One that is joined to another dwelling or building on one or more 
sides by a party wall or walls. 

“Dwelling, detached” – One which is entirely surrounded by open space on the same lot. 
 

“Dwelling Unit” – One or more rooms containing complete kitchen facilities, permanently 
installed, which are arranged, designed, used or intended for use exclusively as living 
quarters for one family and not more than an aggregate of two roomers or boarders. 

 
“Dwelling, one-family” – A residential structure containing one dwelling unit only. 

“Dwelling, two-family (Duplex)” – A residential structure two dwelling units only. 

“Dwelling, multiple-family (Apartment Building)” – A building or portion thereof 
containing three or more dwelling units but not including a motel, or rooming house. 

 
“Family” – Two or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption or a group of not 
more than five persons not so related, maintaining a common household in a dwelling 
unit. 

 
“Financial Assurance” – Reasonable assurance from a credit worthy party, examples of 
which include a surety bond, trust instrument, cash escrow, or irrevocable letter of credit. 

“Floor Area” – The sum of the gross horizontal areas of the several floors of a building or 
buildings – measured from the exterior faces of buildings. In particular, “floor area” shall 
include: 

(a) Basement space if at least one-half of the basement story is above established 
curb level, or where the curb level has not been established, above the average 
level of the finished grade. 

(b) Elevator shafts and stairwells at each floor. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-9 

 

 

(c) Attic floor space where the structural headroom exceeds seven and one-half 
feet. 

(d) Enclosed porches, but not terraces and breezeways. 
(e) Accessory uses, other than floor space devoted exclusively to accessory off- 

street parking or loading. 

“Floor Area Ratio (FAR)” – The total floor area on a zoning lot divided by the area of that 
zoning lot. 

 
“Frontage” – The length of any one property line of a premises, which property line abuts 
a legally accessible street right-of-way. 

 
“Garage, private” – An accessory building designed or used for the storage of not more 
than four motor-driven vehicles owned and used by the occupants of the building to 
which it is accessory. 

 
“Guest House/Home” – A single-family dwelling rented out on a transient basis for the 
purpose of providing guest accommodations to the public for a charge. 

 
“Height of Building” – The vertical distance from the average elevation of the finished lot 
grade at the front of the building to the highest point of the coping of a flat roof, or to the 
deck line of a mansard roof, or to the average height between the plate and the ridge of a 
gable, hip or gambrel roof. 

“Home Occupation” – An occupation carried on by the occupant of a dwelling as a 
secondary use; such occupations are to include, but may not be limited to: dressmaking 
and alterations, handicraft, professional offices, artists studio, and studio for music or 
dancing teacher. 

 
“Industry” – An enterprise which involves the production processing or storage of 
materials, goods or products. 

 
“Junk Yard” – An open area where waste or scrap materials are bought, sold, exchanged, 
stored, baled, packed, shredded, disassembled, or handled, including but not limited to 
scrap iron and other metals, paper, rags, rubber tires and bottles. A “junk yard” includes 
an automobile wrecking or dismantling yard but does not include uses established 
entirely within enclosed buildings. 

“Landscape Screening” – At the stated landscape screening setback, a row of vegetation 
(trees, hedges, bushes, etc.) sufficient to create a transition from one zoning district to 
another, and blocking unattractive uses, i.e., junkyards, gravel pits from view of other 
properties. 

 
“Livestock” – Any animals bred or kept for use and/or commercial profit. Livestock shall 
include, but not be limited to cattle, horses, sheep, goats, swine, poultry, or any other 
domestic animals or foul which are raised for sale or use. 

 
 

Loading Space” – An off-street space on the same lot with a building or continuous to a 
group of buildings for the temporary parking of a commercial vehicle while loading or 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-10 

 

 

unloading merchandise or materials, and which abuts on a street or other appropriate 
means of access. 

 
“Lot” – A piece, parcel or plot of land intended for building development or as a unit for 
transfer of ownership. 

“Lot, corner” – A lot situated at the intersection of two streets, the interior angle of such 
intersection not exceeding 135 degrees. 

 
“Lot, double frontage” – An interior lot having frontage on two streets. 

“Lot, interior” – A lot other than a corner lot. 

“Lot Area” – The area of a horizontal plane bounded by the front, side, and rear lot line of 
a lot measured within the lot boundaries. 

 
“Lot Depth” – The mean horizontal distance between the front line and the rear lot line of 
a lot measured within the lot boundaries. 

 
“Lot Width” – The horizontal distance between the side lot lines measured at the building 
setback line. 

“Medical Cannabis Cultivation Center” – Is to mean a facility operated by an organization 
or business that is registered by the IL State Department of Agriculture to perform 
necessary activities to provide only registered medical cannabis dispensing organizations 
with usable medical cannabis. 

 
“Medical Cannabis Dispensing Center” – Is to mean a facility operated by an organization 
or business that is registered by the IL State Department of Financial and Professional 
Regulation to acquire medical cannabis from a registered cultivation center for the 
purpose of dispensing. 

“Mixed Use Building” – A building in the Business (B-1) District which is primarily used 
in a business or commercial nature, but allowed by special permit to have a separate 
segregated portion dedicated to residential living space. 

 
“Mobile Homes and Manufactured Housing” – A building assembly or system of building 
subassemblies, designed for habitation as a dwelling for one or more persons including 
the necessary electrical, plumbing, heating, ventilating and other service systems, which 
is of closed or open construction and which is made or assembled by a manufacturer, on 
or off the building site, for installation, or assembly and installation, on the building site. 
Synonymous with manufactured home. 

 
“Mobile Home Park” – A lot, parcel or tract of land developed with facilities for 
accommodating two (2) or more mobile homes, only by non-transient dwellers remaining 
continuously for more than one month, whether or not a charge is made. It shall not 
include a sales lot in which unoccupied mobile homes located on a site in the mobile 
home park which are occupied or vacant for not more than ninety (90) days after 
occupancy may be sold or offered for sale. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-11 

 

 

“Motel (Tourist Court)” – A building or group of detached, semi-detached or attached 
buildings on a lot containing guest rooms or dwellings with garages or parking spaces 
conveniently located to each unit and which is designed, used or intended to be used 
primarily for the accommodation of automobile transients. Motels do not include hotels, 
boarding houses or mobile home courts. 

“Noxious Matter or Material” – A material which is capable of causing injury to living 
organisms by chemical reaction, or is capable of causing detrimental effects on the 
physical or economic well-being of individuals. 

 
“Parking Space, automobile” – A suitably surfaced and permanently maintained area off 
the public street right-of-way, either within or outside of a building of sufficient size to 
store one standard automobile, but in no event less than 180 square feet, exclusive of 
passageways, driveways, or other means of circulation access. 

 
“Particular Matter” – Dust, smoke or any other form of airborne pollution in the form of 
minute separate particles. 

“Planned Unit Development” – A means by the County Board to vary from the lot 
requirements of the conventional zoning ordinance in order to provide a means of 
achieving greater flexibility in the development of land in a manner not possible in 
conventional zones, which encourages more innovative and imaginative design of 
projects. 

 
“Primary Structure” – For each property, the structure that one or more persons occupy 
the majority of time on that property for either business or personal reasons. Primary 
Structure includes structures such as residences, commercial buildings, hospitals, 
schools, and day care facilities. Primary Structure excludes structures such as hunting 
sheds, storage sheds, pool houses, unattached garages and barns. 

 
“Professional Engineer” – A qualified individual who is licensed as a professional 
engineer in a state in the United States. 

 
“Recreational Development Area” – An area containing platted lots and recreational 
facilities (such as a lake or ski slope or swimming pool or tennis court or riding stable or 
golf course) which can be used by owners of lots within said area or any part thereof, and 
whether or not the usage of said recreational facilities is free or for a fee. 

 
“Refuse” – All waste products resulting from human habitation, except sewage. 

 
“Residence” – A building, which is used predominantly for permanent dwelling purposes. 
It may contain one or more housing units. 

 
“Roadside Stand” – A structure for the display and sale of agricultural products, with no 
space for customers within the structure itself. 

“Roadway, arterial” – Those roadways designated as arterial roadways on the Carroll 
County Comprehensive Plan and including those state and county highways which are 
part of the Federal Aid Secondary Highway System. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-12 

 

 

“Roadway, collector” – Those roadways designated as collector roadways on the Carroll 
County Comprehensive Plan and including those state and county highways which are 
part of the Federal Aid Secondary Highway System. 

 
“Roadway, local” – Those township roads and county highways not designated as arterial 
or collector roadways on the Carroll County Comprehensive Plan. 

 
“Setback” – The minimum horizontal distance between a building and the street 
centerline or property line, disregarding steps, unroofed porches and overhangs. 

“Sign” – Any device for visual communication that is used for the purpose of bringing the 
subject thereof to the attention of the public, but not including any flag, badge, or insignia 
of any government or governmental agency, or of any civic, charitable, religious, patriotic, 
fraternal, or similar organization. Such Device may be either stationary or movable. 

 
“Sign, advertising” – A sign which directs attention to a commodity, service, or 
entertainment that is sold or offered either elsewhere or upon the premises where such 
sign is located, or to which it is affixed. 

 
“Sign, directional” – A sign which is for the purpose of making specific commercial, 
industrial, or public or semi-public locations known and to assist in finding these 
locations. 

 
“Sign, identification” – A sign which identifies a residential, commercial, industrial or 
public or semi-public use located upon the premises where such sign is located or affixed. 

“Sign, temporary” – A sign which is erected or displayed for a limited period of time 
including any sign, banner, pennant, valance or display constructed of cloth, canvas, light 
fabric, cardboard, wallboard or other light material, with or without frames. 

 
“Solar Farm” – Power station using photovoltaic modules and inverters for utility 
electricity generation. 

 
“Storey” – That part of a building between the surface of a floor and the ceiling 
immediately above; however, a basement is not considered a storey. 

 
“Structure” – Anything constructed, built or placed above ground, the use of which will 
require a semi-permanent or fixed location; Or that is built attached to something having 
such a location. 

 
“Toxic Matter or Material” – Those materials which are capable of causing injury to living 
organisms by chemical means when present in relatively small amounts. 

 
“Transient Resident” – Any person who occupies a Guest House/Home for less than 
thirty (30) consecutive days. 

“Travel Trailer” – A vehicular portable structure built on a chassis designed to be used as 
a temporary dwelling for travel, recreation and vacation use. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-13 

 

 

“Use” – The purpose of activity for which the land or building thereon is designed, 
arranged or intended, or for which is occupied or maintained. 

 
“Use, accessory” – A use that is subordinate to the principal use or building on the same 
lot and customarily incidental thereto as well as detached there from. 

“Use, incompatible” – A use which is incapable of direct association with certain uses 
because it is contradictory, incongruent or discordant. 

 
“Use, non-conforming” – Any lawfully established use of a building or premise which on 
the effective date of this ordinance does not comply with the use regulations of the zoning 
district in which such building or premises shall be located. 

 
“Use, permitted” – A use which may be lawfully established in a particular district or 
districts, provided it conforms with all requirements, regulations and performance 
standards, if any, of such district. 

 
“Use, principal” – The main use of land or buildings as distinguished from a subordinate 
or accessory use. 

 
“Use, special” – A use, either public or private, which, because of the unique 
characteristics, cannot be properly classified as a permitted use in a particular district. 
After due consideration in each case, of the impact of such use upon neighboring land, 
and of the public need fro the particular use at the particular location, such “special use” 
may or may not be granted. 

“WEGF Applicant” – Means the entity or person who submits to the County, pursuant to 
Section 700-5.06 of this Ordinance, an application for the siting of any WEGF or 
Substation. 

 
“WEGF Operator” – The entity responsible for the day-to-day operation and maintenance 
of the WEGF, including any third party subcontractors. 

 
“WEGF Owner” – The entity or entities with an equity interest in the WEGF(s), including 
their respective successors and assigns. Owner does not mean the property owner from 
whom land is leased for locating the WEGF (i) unless the property owner has an equity 
interest in the WEGF; or (ii) any person holding a security interest in the WEGF(s)solely 
to secure an extension of credit, or a person foreclosing on such security interest provided 
that after foreclosure, such person seeks to sell the WEGF(s) at the earliest practicable 
date. 

 
“WEGF Project” – The collection of WEGF(s) and substations as specified in the siting 
approval application pursuant to Section 700-5.06 of this Ordinance. 

 
“WEGF Substation” – The apparatus that connects the electrical collection system of the 
WEGF(s) and increases the voltage for connection with the utility’s transmission lines. 

 
“WEGF Tower” – The support structure to which the nacelle and rotor are attached. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-14 

 

 

“WEGF Tower Height” – The distance from the rotor blade at its highest point to the top 
surface of the WEGF foundation. 

 
“Wind Energy Generating Facilities (WEGF)” – All necessary devices that together 
convert wind energy into electricity, including the rotor, nacelle, generator, WEGF Tower, 
electrical components, WEGF foundation, transformer, and electrical cabling from the 
WEGF tower to the substation(s). 

 
“Yard” – An open space on a lot, which is unobstructed from its lowest level to the sky, 
except as hereinafter permitted. A yard extends along a lot line and at right angles to 
such lot line to a depth or width specified in the yard regulations for the district in which 
such lot is located. 

“Yard, front” – A yard extending along the full width of the front line between side lot 
lines. 

 
“Yard, side” – A yard extending along a side lot line between the front and rear yards. 

“Yard, rear” – The portion of the yard on the same lot with the building between the rear 
line of the building and the rear line of the lot for the full width of the lot. 

 
“Zoning District” – An area or areas within the limits of Carroll County for which the 
regulations and requirements governing use, lot and bulk of the buildings and premises 
are uniform. 

 
“Zoning Map” – The map setting out the boundaries of the Zoning Districts of Carroll 
County, which map is a part of this Ordinance. 

 
 

ARTICLE 4 – ZONING DISTRICTS 
 
Section 700-4.01 Zoning Districts 
In order to carry out the purposes of this ordinance the unincorporated area of Carroll County is 
hereby divided into the following use districts: 

 
AG-1 General Agricultural District 
B-1 Highway/Tourist Oriented/Service Business District 
C-1 General Commercial District 
I-1 General Industrial District 
I-2 Heavy Industrial District 
AP-1 Airport District 
R-1 Single Family Residential District 
R-2 Multi-Family District 
REC-1 Recreational District 
MHP-1 Mobile Home Park District 

Section 700-4.02 Map 
The locations and the boundaries of the Zoning Districts established by this ordinance are set 
forth on the Zoning Use Districts Map, which is incorporated as a part of this ordinance. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-15 

 

 

Section 700-4.03 Boundaries 
District boundary lines as indicated on the Zoning Use Districts Map follow 

(a) the center lines of streets, alleys, highways, easements, or waterways; 
(b) the boundary lines of sections, quarter sections, and divisions of sections; 
(c) property lines of record on the effective date of this ordinance for tracts and lots; 

or 
(d) such lines extended if said boundary lines do not follow any of the above-described 

lines, the district boundary lines are established as drawn on the Zoning Use 
Districts Map. 

ARTICLE 5 – AG-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-5.01 AG-1 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing an agricultural district is to allow maximum freedom 
of operation for agricultural uses, and to protect such uses from encroachment by potential 
conflicting uses. It is also the intent to protect the County’s natural amenities, particularly the 
Mississippi River shoreline and the wooded hills and valleys, from harmful exploitation. 

 
Section 700-5.02 Allowed in an AG-1 District 
(a) All agricultural uses including new agricultural dwellings, subject to 700-5.04(a). 
(b) Public parks and other recreational uses of a noncommercial nature. 
(c) Churches, schools and cemeteries 
(d) Nurseries and greenhouses 
(e) Forestry 
(f) Structures for the storage of farm crop products such as grain and corn. 
(g) Customary home occupations provided that: 

(1) Such occupation is carried on in the principal building. 
(2) Not more than 25 percent of the gross floor area of the residence is used for this 

purpose. 
(3) No person is employed other than a member of the household residing on the 

premises. 
(4) Such occupations shall not adversely affect other uses in the area by creating 

disturbing characteristics such as but not limited to: inappropriate signage, 
excessive traffic, parking and noise. 

(h) Customary accessory uses incidental to the foregoing principal uses such as private 
garages, screen houses, signs and play equipment. 

(i) Roadside farm stands. 
(j) Governmental buildings. 
(k) Meat processing plants 
(l) Botanical Gardens 
(m) Hospitals/Medical clinics 
(n) Dairies 
(o) One new single-family non-agricultural dwelling per lot, subject to 700-5.04 (a), 

including access thereto, provided the lot receive a Low or Moderate Rating For 
Protection as determined by a Land Evaluation Site Assessment (LESA) Report. Lots 
receiving a High LESA Rating will not be given a new dwelling building permit. 

(p) One pre-existing single-family dwelling per lot, subject to 700-5.04 (a), including access 
thereto. If a pre-existing dwelling has been or is being removed, a building permit must 
be obtained within 48 months in order to remain a qualifying pre-existing dwelling site 
and therefore exempt from the LESA for rebuilding. 

(q) Guest House/Home – Refer to Chapter 745 of Carroll County Ordinances 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-16 

 

 

 
 
Section 700-5.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in an AG-1 District 
(a) Dog kennels and veterinary establishments. 
(b) Auto salvage and junkyards provided they are not visible from public roadways or from 

nearby residential or commercial properties. 
(c) Transportation Chartering 
(d) Public and semi-public uses of a public service nature, such as rest areas. 
(e) Mining, drilling and/or extraction of material, sand, gravel, topsoil or other aggregates, 

including equipment, buildings, or structures for the screening, crushing, rinsing, 
washing or storage provided that, with the exception that any quarry that has not 
discontinued use that was in existence prior to September 16, 1999 may have an open pit 
within 50 feet of the property boundaries: 
(1) No open pit or shaft is located less than 75 feet from the centerline of any public 

road. 
(2) All buildings or structures are located not less than 100 feet from the centerline of 

any public road. 
(3) No open pit or shaft is less than 200 feet from any property line. 
(4) The borders of the property adjacent to or across the roadway form any district 

other than an industrial or commercial district is fenced with a fence of at least 6 
feet in height. 

(5) A landscape buffer located at 25 feet from those property lines/borders adjacent to 
a residential property. 

(6) A plan for reclamation must accompany the application. 
(f) Private airplane landing strips. 
(g) Bed & Breakfast establishments 
(h) Riding and Boarding Stables 
(i) Self storage 
(j) Model Homes – provided the minimum required acreage, etc. are met. 
(k) Wind Energy Generating Facilities (WEGF) that generate electricity to be sold to 

wholesale or retail markets provided that the standards for siting such facilities in section 
700-5.06 are met. 

(l) Commercial Solar Facilities greater than 100 KW, See Chapter 725 Commercial Solar 
(m) Commercial Wind Energy Conversion Systems, See Chapter 750 Commercial Wind 
(n) Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower, Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center, Adult-Use 

Cannabis Infuser Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization, Adult-Use 
Cannabis Transporting Organization 

(o) Other uses similar in nature to the above uses and which, in the opinion of the Carroll 
County Board, will not be detrimental to the integrity of the Agricultural district. 

 
Section 700-5.04 Minimum Lot Requirements: 
(a) The minimum lot requirements for Pre-Existing, New LESA and New AG Dwellings, in 
accordance with 700-5.02 (o) & (p) shall meet the following: 

(1) Area: Two acres 
(2) Width: 150 feet 
(3) Depth: 150 feet 
(4) Frontage: 150 feet, unless a Reserve (Flag) Lot (Sec. 700-15.21) 
(5) Existing dwellings will be allowed on lots of less area if the lot was recorded as a 
lawful conforming lot prior to the adoption of this ordinance as amended on February 18, 
2010. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-17 

 

 

(b) All other uses shall meet each of the following lot requirements: 
(1) Area: Five acres 
(2) Width: 150 feet 
(3) Depth: 150 feet 
(4) Frontage: 150 feet, unless a Reserve (Flag) Lot 

Section 700-5.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 
(a) Setback from roadways 

(1) 60 feet from centerline of township roads. 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of county and state highways. 
(3) 30 feet from centerline of road in platted subdivisions without a setback line 

indicated. 
(b) Side yard and rear yard setbacks 

(1) 10 feet from property lines. 
(2) 7 feet from property lines in platted subdivisions without building setback lines 

indicated. 
(c) Landscape Buffer/Screening: Not required. 

 
ARTICLE 6 – B-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

 
Section 700-6.01 B-1 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing a Highway/Tourist Oriented/Service Business 
District is to provide appropriate areas for commercial establishments not necessarily suited to 
locations within established communities. Such district is in recognition of the fact that tourism 
and commercial developments are now a very definite economic factor in Carroll County. 

 
Section 700-6.02 Allowed in a B-1 District 

(a) Service Office Businesses 
(b) Botanical Gardens 
(c) Banking/Investment Facilities 
(d) Insurance Agencies 
(e) Real Estate Agencies 
(f) Travel Agencies 
(g) Barber/Beauty Shops 
(h) Car Washes 
(i) Computer Data Services 
(j) Dance Halls – No alcohol served 
(k) Dental and Medical Clinics 
(l) Medical Cannabis Dispensing Center. 
(m) Sporting Good Stores 
(n) Bait Shops 
(o) Electronic Sales/Repair Shops 
(p) Hotels/Motels/Bed & Breakfasts 
(q) Self Storage Facilities 
(r) Restaurants/Diners/Supper Clubs 
(s) Gas Stations/Auto/Truck/Boat Repair 
(t) Agriculture 
(u) Other uses similar in nature to other permitted uses in the B-1 district, which are 

of a tourist service and/or retail-oriented nature. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-18 

 

 

Section 700-6.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in a B-1 District 
(a) Salvage operations, auto, construction, etc. 
(b) Other uses which in the opinion of the County Board after review by the Zoning 

Board of Appeals are of a similar nature to the above uses, and which will not be 
detrimental to the integrity of the Highway/Tourist, Service Oriented Business 
Districts. 

(c) Mixed Use Building, with one floor or fifty percent (%50) of gross floor space 
dedicated to business. 

(d) Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower, Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization, 
Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Processing 
Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting Organization 

 
Section 700 6.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 

(a) Area: 
(1) Uses served by common sanitary sewage systems 15,000 square feet; and 
(2) Uses served by individual sanitary sewage systems one acre. 

(b) Width: 100 feet 
(c) Depth: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 100 feet 

 
Section 700-6.04 Minimum Setback Requirements 

(a) Setback from roadways: 
(1) 60 feet from centerline of township roads 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of county and state highways 
(3) 30 feet from centerline of road in platted subdivisions without a setback line 

indicated. 
(b) Setback from side yards and rear yards 

(1) 15 feet from properties bordering other commercial zoning 
(2) 50 feet from properties containing residences 
(3) 100 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 

(c) Landscape Buffer/Screening: 25 feet from property line 
 

ARTICLE 7 – C-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Section 700-7.01 C-1 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing a General Commercial District is to allow for the 
placement of retail and service business that require a larger retail area for merchandise display 
either indoors or out of doors. 

Section 700-7.02 Allowed in a C-1 District 
(a) All Allowed Uses in a B-1 District 
(b) Auto Rental 
(c) Auto Dealers, New & Used 
(d) Auto/Truck/Boat Repair Facilities 
(e) Marine Dealers 
(f) Transportation Chartering Services 
(g) Building Supply 
(h) Light Manufacturing (electronics, etc.) 
(i) Mobile Home Dealers 
(j) Manufactured Home Dealers 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-19 

 

 

(k) Motorcycle Dealers 
(l) Self Storage 
(m) Publishing 
(n) Sale of agricultural equipment, implements, feed, and seed directly to the end 

agricultural user. 
(o) Other retail and service business uses, which are permitted in an I-1 district, when 

found to have economic compatibility with the established uses of the adjoining 
properties. 

(p) Agriculture 
(q) Adult Entertainment Business 
(r) Other uses similar in nature to other permitted uses in C-1 district, which are of a 

commercial nature requiring a larger display area. 

Section 700-7.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in a C-1 District 
(a) Meat processing plants 
(b) Model Homes not to be occupied as residences 
(c) Cement Plants 
(d) Trucking Companies 
(e) Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower, Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center, Adult- 

Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization, 
Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting 
Organization 

(f) Other uses which in the opinion of the County Board, after a review by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals are of a similar nature to the above stated special permitted uses, 
and which will not be detrimental to the integrity of the C-1 district. 

 
Section 700-7.04 Minimum Lot Requirement 

(a) Area: Five acres 
(b) Width: 150 feet 
(c) Depth: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

 
Section 700 7.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

(a) Roadways: 
(1) 60 feet from centerline of township roads 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of state and county highways 

(b) Side yards and Rear yards 
(1) 15 feet from properties bordering other commercial zoning 
(2) 50 feet from properties containing residences 
(3) 25 feet from all other non-commercial zoning, not containing residences. 
(4) 100 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 

(c) Landscaping Buffer/Screening: 25 feet 
(d) No adult entertainment business shall be located within 1000 feet of another adult 

entertainment business. 
(g) No adult entertainment business shall be located within 1000 feet of any 

residence, church, public park, school, public library or public forest preserve. 
 

ARTICLE 8 – I-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Section 700-8.01 I-1 District Intent 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-20 

 

 

It is the intent of this ordinance that most of the future new or expanded industrial 
developments will and should take place within established communities. 

 
Section 700-8.02 Allowed in an I-1 District 

(a) Beverage Processing 
(b) Binding, Printing, Publishing 
(c) Paper Mills 
(d) Warehousing/Shipping 
(e) Cement Plants 
(f) Textile Production 
(g) Drug Production/Packaging 
(h) Medical Cannabis Cultivation Center. 
(i) Food Production 
(j) Food Processing 
(k) Metal Working 
(l) Governmental Correctional Facilities 
(m) Solar Farms 
(n) Agriculture 
(o) Other uses similar in nature to other stated permitted uses in an I-1 district, which 

are of an industrial oriented nature. 
 
Section 700-8.03 Allowed by Special Use Permitted in an I-1 District 

(a) Chemical Production 
(b) Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower, Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center, Adult- 

Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization, 
Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting 
Organization 

(c) Other uses which in the opinion of the County Board, after a review by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals are of a similar nature to the above special permitted uses, and 
which will not be detrimental to the integrity of the I-1 industrial district. 

 
Section 700-8.04 Minimum Lot Requirement 

(a) Area: Two Acres 
(b) Width: 150 feet 
(c) Depth: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

Section 700-8.05 Minimum Setback Requirements: 
 

(a) Roadways 
(1) 100 feet from the centerline of township roads. 
(2) 100 feet from the centerline of county and state highways. 

(b) Side yard and Rear yard 
(1) 15 feet along properties zoned industrial 
(2) 100 feet along properties containing residences 
(3) 50 feet from all other zoning district not containing residences 
(4) 500 feet for all agriculture buildings on all boundaries 

 
ARTICLE 9 – I-2 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-21 

 

 

 
Section 700-9.01 I-2 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing an I-2 Heavy Industrial District is to encourage the 
orderly placement of commercial and industrial manufacturing, processing and warehousing 
developments that may require additional area for safety and protection of surrounding uses. 

Section 700 9.02 Allowed in an I-2 District 
(a) All Allowed Uses in the I-1 District 
(b) Chemical Plants 
(c) Industrial Chemical Plants 
(d) Fertilizer Plants 
(e) Refining, Raw Materials 
(f) Refining, Synthetic Materials 
(g) Trucking Companies 
(h) Warehousing and Shipping 
(i) Commercial Storage 
(j) Retail Sale of agricultural fertilizers and chemicals directly to the end agricultural 

user 
(k) Agriculture 
(l) Uses similar in nature to stated permitted uses in the I-2 district which are of a 

heavy industrial nature 

Section 700-9.03 Allowed by Special Use Permitted in I-2 District 
(d) Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower, Adult-Use Cannabis Cultivation Center, Adult- 

Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Infuser Organization, 
Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Transporting 
Organization 

 
Section 700-9.04 Minimum Lot Requirement 

(a) Area: Five Acres 
(b) Width: 150 feet 
(c) Depth: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

Section 700-9.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 
(a) Roadways 

(1) 100 feet from centerline of township roads 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of county and state highways 

(b) Side yard and Rear yard 
(1) 100 feet, unless other state or federal requirements warrant otherwise. 
(2) 500 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 

(c) Landscape Buffering: 25 feet from bordering properties containing residences. 
 

ARTICLE 10 – AP-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Section 700-10.01 AP-1 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing an airport district is to provide for the safe operation 
of the airports by protecting the airport area from conflicting or dangerous uses. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-22 

 

 

Section 700-10.02 Allowed in an AP-1 District 
(a) Airport Facilities 
(b) Hangers 
(c) Landing Strips 
(d) Vehicle Parking Lots 
(e) Heliports 
(f) Public Water Wells and Filtration Plants 
(g) Freight Terminals 
(h) Agriculture 
(i) Uses similar in nature to stated permitted uses in the AP-1 district, which are not 

detrimental to the operation of airstrip/airport. 
 
Section 700-10.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in an AP-1 District 

(a) Fire Stations 
(b) Government Buildings 

 
Section 700-10.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 

(a) Area: All uses – one acre 
(b) Width: All uses – 150 feet 
(c) Depth: All uses – 100 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

Section 700-10.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 
(a) Roadways 

(1) 60 feet from centerline of township roads. 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of County and State highways. 

(b) Side yard and Rear yard 
(1) 6 feet from property lines when structure has no windows facing adjacent 

property. 
(2) 10 feet from property lines when structure has windows facing adjacent 

property. 
(3) 500 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 

(c) Landscape Buffer/Screening: None Required. 
 

ARTICLE 11 – R-1 DISTRICT REGULATIONS 
 
Section 700-11.01 R-1 District Intent 
The intent of this ordinance in establishing a Residential District is to provide for an area or 
areas where residential development may take place at a density other than that permitted in the 
Agriculture District; where such development will not have an adverse effect upon the 
environment or upon the public service systems such as roads, schools, or utilities. It is the 
premise of this ordinance that most of the new residential development will and should take 
place within established communities where public service systems are adequate to handle such 
development. 

 
Section 700-11.02 Allowed in an R-1 District 

(a) Single Family Residences. 
(b) Home Occupations Provided that: 

(1) Such occupation is carried on in the principal building. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-23 

 

 

(2) Not more than 25 percent of the gross floor area of the residence is used for 
this purpose. 

(3) No person is employed other than a member of the household residing on 
the premises. 

(4) Such occupations shall not adversely affect other uses in the area by 
creating disturbing characteristics such as but not limited to: excessive 
traffic, parking and noise. 

(c) Agriculture, with the exception of raising livestock for commercial purposes when 
the land has been platted and one lot has been sold; provided, however, that the 
density of all livestock maintained on a zoning lot shall not exceed one animal unit 
per one acre. Livestock is prohibited on lots of less than one acre. 

(d) Customary accessory uses incidental to the foregoing principal uses such as private 
garages, screened houses, and play equipment. 

(e) Guest House/Home- Refer to Chapter 745 of Carroll County Ordinances 
 
 
Section 700-11.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in an R-1 District 

(a) Daycare facilities 
(b) Communal facilities 
(c) Churches 
(d) Bed and Breakfast establishment 
(e) Guest House/Home 

(1) For a period not to exceed 5 years without renewal. 
 
Section 700-11.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 

(a) Area: 
(1) Residences served by individual sanitary sewage disposal and individual 

water supply systems – one acre; 
(2) Residences served by common water supply system and sewage disposal 

system, recorded by deed as common lots – 15,000 square feet. In cases of 
re-platting, infrastructure shall be in place before lots are buildable. 

(3) A lot area of more that the minimum may be required where percolation 
rates; topography or other special conditions may warrant; and 

(4) Nonresidential uses – one acre. 

(b) Width: 
(1) Residential served by individual sanitary sewage disposal – 150 feet; 
(2) Residential served by common sanitary sewage disposal system – 90 feet; 

and 
(3) Nonresidential uses – 175 feet. 

 
(c) Depth: All uses – 100 feet. 
(d) Frontage: 90 feet, unless a Reserve (Flag) Lot 

 
Section 700-11.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

(a) Roadways: 
(1) 60 feet from centerline of township roads; 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of county roads; 
(3) In a platted subdivision, 25 feet from the right of way of the road, unless 

otherwise specified by recorded plat. 
(4) 100 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-24 

 

 

(b) Side yard and rear yard setbacks: 
(1) 10 feet from property lines. 
(2) 7 feet from property lines in platted subdivisions without building setback 

lines indicated. 
(c) Landscape Buffer/Screening: None required. 

 
ARTICLE 12 – R-2 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 

 
Section 700-12-01 R-2 District Intent 
The intent of the R-2 Multi-family zoning District is to provide for a wider variety of dwelling 
accommodations with a higher density of dwelling units; to provide for multiple family dwellings 
with adequate space for family living; and to provide for a transition between nonresidential and 
one-family areas of lower density. 

 
Section 700-12.02 Allowed in an R-2 District 

(a) Condominiums 
(b) Group Homes, i.e., senior housing 
(c) Developmentally and Mentally disabled housing 
(d) Rooming/Boarding houses 
(e) Apartment complexes, with communal areas 
(f) Dormitories 
(g) One family row-dwellings (sharing a common wall) with no more than six (6) 

dwellings in a row or building 
(h) Townhouses 
(i) Agriculture, with the exception of raising livestock. 
(j) Accessory buildings and common/communal recreational and utility facilities 

serving only the residents and guests 
 
Section 700-12-03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in an R-2 District 

(a) Daycare facilities 
(b) Churches 
(c) Specialty Schools 

Section 700-12.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 
(a) Area: 

(1) When served by private septic system a minimum of one-half acre for family 
unit proposed with a minimum of one additional quarter acre set-aside for 
septic field expansion/replacement. This additional property cannot be 
developed at anytime, unless hooked to a public system. 
(a) The Illinois Department of Public Health will review all proposals 

and additional land may be required to accommodate sewage 
facilities plan. 

(2) When served by a public sanitary septic system a minimum of one-quarter 
acre for each family dwelling unit. 

(b) Depth: 150 feet 
(c) Width: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

 
Section 700-12-05 Minimum Setback Requirements 

(a) Roadways: 100 feet from center of all roadways. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-25 

 

 

(b) Side yard and Rear yards: 
(1) 35 feet from all property lines 
(2) 100 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries. 

(c) Landscape Buffer/Screening: 15 feet from all property lines 
(d) Parking: Minimum of two parking spaces to accommodate a standard size 

automobile. 
(e) Height: Maximum 3 storey’s. 

 
ARTICLE 13 – REC-1 DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS 

Section 70013.01 REC-1 District Intent 
The intent of establishing a Recreational District to accommodate the growing industry of 
outdoor recreation, promote tourism and preserve open spaces. 

Section 700-13.02 Allowed in a REC-1 District 
(a) Commercial Campgrounds 
(b) Golf Courses 
(c) Resorts 
(d) Bunk Houses and Tourist Cabins 
(e) Public Swimming Facilities 
(f) Outdoor Recreational Facilities 
(g) Riding Stables/Trails 
(h) Rodeos 
(i) Concession Stands and accessory ventures that directly support the operation of 

the facilities. 
(j) Agriculture 
(k) Uses similar in nature to stated permitted uses in the REC-1 district which are of 

an outdoor recreational nature. 
 
Section 700-13.03 Allowed by Special Use Permit in a REC-1 District: 

(a) Hunt Clubs 
(b) Pistol and Rifle Shooting Ranges 
(c) Archery Ranges 
(d) Skeet Shooting Ranges 

 
Section 700-13.04 Minimum Lot Requirements 

(a) Area: 35 acres 
(b) Depth: 100 feet 
(c) Width: 150 feet 
(d) Frontage: 150 feet 

Section 700-13.05 Minimum Setback Requirements 
(a) Roadways: 

(1) 100 feet from centerline of township roads 
(2) 100 feet from centerline of county and state highways 

(b) Side yard and Rear yard: 
(1) 100 feet from all property boundaries 
(2) 100 feet for agriculture buildings on all boundaries 

(c) Parking: All parking must be contained within the property boundaries, and 
not along roadways. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-26 

 

 

(d) Landscape buffer/screening: 50 feet from property boundaries that face 
properties with residences. 

 
ARTICLE 14 – MHP-1 DISTRICT 

Section 70014.01 Purpose 
A Mobile Home Park District is established to provide a location for the long-term parking of 
mobile homes in an area where service and facilities and open space is provided in a residential 
setting. 

 
Section 700-14.02 Allowed in an MHP-1 District 

(a) Single or double wide, single family mobile homes, which comply with the conditions 
provided herein. No mobile home permit shall be required for the placement of a mobile 
home within a mobile home park district. 

 
Section 700-14.03 Acreage Required 
All mobile home park districts shall be at least 5 acres in area. 

 
 
Section 700-14.04 Set Backs 
Every mobile home placed within a mobile home park district shall be set back in accordance 
with the following: 

 
A. All mobile homes and all buildings constructed within the district shall be set back 

at least 100 feet from the center line of all existing or planned federal, state and 
county highways and roads. The minimum setback along township roads shall be 
60 feet from the centerline. The minimum setback along streets within the mobile 
home park shall be 10 feet from the edge of the roadway. 

 
B. Every mobile home, including additions attached to the mobile home, or out 

buildings placed within a mobile home park district shall be setback from the rear 
and side mobile home lot lines a minimum of 7.5 (seven and one-half) feet 

 
Section 700-14.05 Building Height 
No building placed within the MHP-1 district shall have a height that exceeds twenty-four (24) 
feet 

Section 700-14.06 Signs 
One sign not more than twenty (20) square feet in area located on the same zoning lot or tract as 
a mobile home or park or trailer camp is allowed. Such sign may be illuminated, but no flashing 
or intermittent illumination shall be permitted. 

 
Section 700-14.07 Off-Street Parking and Loading 
Automobile parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required or permitted herein. 

Section 700-14.08 Miscellaneous Conditions 
A. The district shall be located on a well-drained site, properly graded to insure rapid 

drainage and free from stagnant pools of water. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-27 

 

 

B. Community sewer and water facilities, which comply with all applicable State 
regulations, or adequate area to accommodate individual well and septic systems 
in accordance with State regulations, shall be provided for each mobile home. 

C. Each district shall provide mobile home spaces, and each space shall be clearly 
defined or delineated. The minimum area of all such mobile spaces shall be not 
less than five thousand (5,000) square feet and the minimum width of all spaces 
shall not be less than fifty (50) feet. 

 
D. Mobile homes, or additions attached to mobile homes, or outbuildings shall be so 

located on each space that there shall be not less than fifteen (15) feet clearance 
between mobile homes and or additions or outbuildings. 

E. No mobile home shall be located closer than forty (40) feet to any community 
building, including any workroom, toilet or laundry facilities provided in said 
mobile home park. 

 
F. Wherever a mobile home park district abuts upon an R-1 (single family residential) 

District, screening, as defined in this Ordinance, shall be provided along each lot 
line which abuts such residential district. 

 
G. A buffer strip not less than twenty (20) feet wide for the purpose of creating a 

screening as defined in this Ordinance shall be established and maintained 
between a mobile home park and any state Park or a forest and/or nature preserve. 

H. Exterior lighting fixtures shall be shaded wherever necessary to avoid casting 
direct light upon any residence or any property located in a residence district or 
upon any public street or park. 

 
I. In all other respect, mobile home parks shall comply with all applicable Statutes of 

the State of Illinois, and all applicable regulations of all departments, commissions 
and agencies of the State of Illinois. 

ARTICLE 15 – SPECIAL REGULATIONS 

Section 700-15.01 Special Regulations to Apply in All Districts 
The following regulations shall apply to all zoning districts unless specifically stated otherwise. 
The Carroll County Board shall make determination of potential or actual noncompliance with 
such special regulations or such Board’s duly appointed agent. 

 
Section 700-15.02 Residential Feature Protections 
No activity or operation shall be established or maintained which by reason of its nature or 
manner of operation will cause the emission of noise, odor, toxic or noxious fumes, smoke, or 
dust and particulate matter in such concentration as to be detrimental to or endanger the public 
health, welfare, comfort, and safety or cause injury to property or business. 

 
Section 700-15.03 Glare 
Any lighting used to illuminate an off-street parking area or sign shall be arranged so as to 
deflect light away from any adjoining residential property or from the public streets. Direct or 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-28 

 

 

sky-reflected glare whether from flood lights or from high-temperature processes such as 
combustion or welding, shall not be directed into any adjoining property. 

 
Section 700-15.04 Explosives 
No activities involving the storage, utilization or manufacture of materials, goods or products 
that could decompose by detonation shall be permitted except as are specifically licensed by the 
U.S. Government; State of Illinois; or the Carroll County Board. 

 
Section 700-15.05 Vibration 
No activity or operation shall cause earth vibrations perceptible beyond the limits of the 
property upon which the operation is located. 

 
Section 700-15.06 Refuse 
All waste material, debris, refuse or garbage not disposed of through other means shall be kept 
in an enclosed building or properly contained in a closed container designed for such purposes. 
The owner of vacant land shall be responsible for keeping such land free of refuse. 

 
Section 700-15.07 Traffic Visibility at Intersections 
No structure shall be erected or any vegetation maintained other than trees trimmed to a height 
of eight feet above street level, and shrubs and hedges trimmed below a height of three feet 
above street level, for a distance of 30 feet from the intersection of the property lines of the two 
streets. 

 
Section 700-15.08 Drainage 
No land shall be developed or put into use which results in a change in runoff, flooding or 
erosion on adjacent properties. In such instances it shall be the responsibility of land owner(s) 
to properly channel runoff into a storm drain, watercourse, ponding areas, or other public 
facility. 

 
Section 700-15.09 Construction within Floodplain 
No structure shall be permitted on any land that is subject to flooding unless the requirements of 
Chapter 720, the Carroll County Floodplain Regulation are met. 

 
Section 700-15.10 Parking 
(a) Minimum Number of Parking Spaces Required: 

(1) Dwellings: One space per dwelling unit. 
(2) Retail Commerce: One space per each 100 square feet of gross building floor 

space, except that eating and drinking places shall provide one space per every two 
seats. 

(3) Service Commerce: One space per every 200 square feet of gross building floor 
space. 

(4) Industry, including Wholesaling: One space per every two persons of maximum 
employment during any work period. 

(5) Churches, Auditoriums and other places of assembly: One space per every four 
seats. 

(6) Sanitariums, Convalescent Homes and Nursing Homes: One space per every six 
beds. 

(7) Other Uses: As determined to be necessary by the Carroll County Board. 
(b) Minimum Size of a Parking Space: 250 square feet of standing and maneuvering space. 

Fractional spaces over one-half count as one space. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-29 

 

 

(c) Location of Parking Spaces: 
(1) Spaces for Dwellings: on the same lot as the dwelling unit. 
(2) Spaces for Commercial Uses for Public or Semi-public Uses: within 300 feet of the 

main entrance of the building served. 
(3) Spaces for Industrial Uses: within 800 feet of the main entrance of the building 

being served. 
(d) Off-street parking areas and access ways other than those for one- and two-family 

dwellings shall be surfaced with a durable material to control dust, and shall be graded so 
as to dispose of all surface water. 

 
Section 700-15.11 Off-street Loading an Unloading Requirements 
(a) An adequate number of off-street loading spaces shall be provided for all structures, 

which require the receipt of distribution of materials or merchandise by trucks or similar 
vehicles, so as to assure unrestricted movement by both pedestrians and motor vehicles 
through out the County. 

(b) Minimum Size of Off-street Loading Berths: 
(1) Width: 10 feet 
(2) Length: 25 feet 
(3) Vertical Clearance: 14 feet 

(c) Location of Off-street Loading Berths: No closer than 25 feet from the intersection of tow 
street right-of-way. 

(d) Surfacing and Drainage: Off-street loading berths and access ways shall be hard surfaced 
to control dust and shall be graded to dispose of all surface water. 

 
Section 700-15.12 Signs – Miscellaneous Requirements 
(a) The owner, lessee, or manager of any ground sign, and the owner of the land on which the 

same is located, shall keep grass or weeds and other growth cut, and debris and rubbish 
cleaned up and removed from the property on which the sign is located. 

(b) Any sign, structure or billboard which may be or may hereafter become rotted, unsafe, or 
unsightly shall be repaired or removed by the licensee, owner, or manager of the property 
upon which the sign stands upon written notice of the Zoning officer. 

(c) All signs must conform to the Chapter 705, Carroll County Sign Ordinance. 

Section 700-15.13 Minimum Residential Floor Area 
The minimum gross floor area for a residence shall be 800 square feet. 

 
Section 700-15.14 Manufactured Housing 
Manufactured homes that are not less than twenty-four feet (24’) in width, built after June 30, 
1976, having a valid HUD approval plate, and installed to manufacturers’ specifications may be 
issued a building permit as a single-family dwelling. Manufactured homes less than 24 feet in 
width will only be allowed in a mobile home park. 

 
Section 700-15.15 Non-Conforming Lots 
A one-family dwelling may be erected on a lot having less than the minimum required area and 
width provided the lot existed by virtue of a record plat or deed on June 11, 1973; however, in no 
event shall a one-family dwelling be erected on a lot less than 6,000 square feet in area or less 
than 60 feet in width. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-30 

 

 

Section 700-15.16 Separation of Buildings 
In cases where several buildings might be constructed on one lot of record excluding residential 
lots, the minimum space between such building shall be no less than a distance equal to one-half 
the building heights of the two buildings involved. 

 
Section 700-15.17 Conservation of Natural features and Amenities 
(a) In the development of land, due regard shall be shown for all-natural features which if 

preserved will add attractiveness and stability to the proposed developments. 
(b) In the development of hilly areas for residential purposes, minimum lot area shall be one 

dwelling per three acres for slopes exceeding 25 percent unless the Carroll County Board 
grants special permission. 

 
Section 700-15.18 Basement Homes 
No interior space below ground level shall be occupied for dwelling purposes for more than 
three years unless such space is part of a structure having at least one full story above ground 
level and having its exterior portion in a structurally finished state. This section shall be 
construed to affect basement homes, and shall not be a prohibition to the construction of any 
underground home. 

 
Section 700-15.19 Set Back from Roadways 
All buildings constructed after the effective date of this ordinance shall be set back at least 100 
feet from the centerline of existing and planned U.S. highways, State highways and County 
roads. The minimum setback along all other streets and roads shall be 60 feet; or as specifically 
stated in the zoning district requirements. 

Section 700-15.20 Street Access 
All lots shall directly abut a public street other than an alley unless a permanent easement of 
access to a public street was of record prior to the adoption of this ordinance. 

 
Section 700-15.21 Reserve (Flag) Lots 
Reserve (flag) lots may be created subject to the following standards: 

 
(a) No more than two (2) reserve (flag) lots may be created to facilitate creation of two but 

not more than three lots/parcels out of a parcel that has not less than the minimum lot 
size for the district, but insufficient width to be divided. 

(b) The access strip of a reserve (flag) lot shall directly access a publicly dedicated street 
right-of-way. 

 
(c) The access strip of a reserve (flag) lot shall be not less than forty (40) feet in width at its 

narrowest point. 

(d) The minimum street/road setback on a reserve (flag) lot shall be established at a distance 
equal to the required street/road setback from the property line that is most parallel to 
the street/road lot line (road right-of-way line). The lot width at this minimum required 
setback shall be not less than otherwise required by this Ordinance. 

 
(e) The area within the access strip of a reserve (flag) lot shall not be counted as lot area for 

the purpose of meeting the minimum lot area requirements of this Ordinance. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-31 

 

 

(f) If required by the highway authority having jurisdiction over the road on which the 
reserve (flag) lot(s) will take access, the access strip of the lot(s), or portion thereof, shall 
contain an access easement to allow the adjoining lot to share access to the road. In no 
case shall the access strip of a reserve (flag) lot serve as an access easement for more than 
three (3) dwelling units. 

(g) Reserve (Flag) Lots may only be created in R-1 and AG-1 districts. 
 
Section 700-15.22 Sewage Treatment and Water Supply 
(a) Soil percolation tests as specified by the Illinois Department of Public Health or Carroll 

County Health Department shall be undertaken for all buildings to be inhabited by 
humans to determine the requirements for a subsurface seepage field or sand filter when 
such buildings are not to be connected to a common sewage disposal system, either 
private or public in nature. 

(b) It shall be unlawful to construct a building for human habitation upon land that is found 
to be unsuitable for the proper function of private sewage disposal systems, unless such 
use is to be served by a common disposal system, either private or public nature. 

(c) Regardless of other provisions of this ordinance, there shall be, if required, additional lot 
area over the minimum lot area designated for and use in all districts to provide for 
sufficient ground area, unoccupied by a building, structure or paving, for installation of 
property systems of sewage treatment and water supply conforming with the standards 
and requirements of the Illinois Department of Public Health. 

(d) Buildings and structures, other than residential dwellings, that will be occupied by 
humans, shall be required to submit to tests as determined by the Illinois Department of 
Public Health or Carroll County Health Department to determine that waste disposal 
plans will be sufficient to accommodate size and usage. This will exclude agricultural and 
accessory buildings. The Zoning Officer will have the authority to waive this requirement. 

 
Section 700-15.23 Use of Recreational Vehicles 
It is the intent of this section to provide for the orderly storage of recreational vehicles, 
furthermore referred to as RVs; and to regulate the use of RVs within the jurisdiction controlled 
by Carroll County, IL. This chapter is intended to supplement and not replace any and all 
applicable state and federal regulations. 

 
RV Definitions. The following words and terms shall, for the purposes of this Section, have the 
meanings shown herein: 

 
(a) "Campground" means a lot or parcel of land zoned or permitted for recreational use that is 
occupied or intended for temporary occupancy by recreational vehicles or tents for travel, 
recreational or vacation usage for short periods of stay and containing a potable water source 
and public toilet facilities. All campgrounds must meet the conditions of the Recreational 
District (REC-1) Regulations and provide evidence on request of the State of IL Campground 
License to run and operate such a facility. 

 
(b) "Habitation" means to "use for living space" and shall include, but not be limited to, acts of 
sleeping, cooking, bathing, occupying as a dwelling, or any stay within the recreational vehicle 
not directly related to its driving. The following factors may constitute acts to be considered 
indicative of "habitation": 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-32 

 

 

(1) Evidence of a person entering and exiting the vehicle; (2) Connection of the vehicle to sewer, 
water, or electrical systems; (3) Use of a power generator; (4)Accessory structures; (5) 
Illumination of the interior of the vehicle; (6) Window masking; (7) Expanded bays "pop-outs." 

 
(c) "Recreational vehicle" or "RV" means a vehicular-type unit primarily designed as temporary 
living quarters for recreational, camping, travel or seasonal use that either has its own motor 
power or is mounted on, or towed by, another vehicle. The basic types of RV entities are: 
camping trailer, fifth wheel trailer, motor home, park trailer, travel trailer, truck camper, and 
tiny house trailer which are individually defined as follows: 

 
(1) "Camping trailer" is a vehicular portable unit mounted on wheels and constructed with 
collapsible partial side walls that fold for towing by another vehicle and unfold at the campsite to 
provide temporary living quarters for recreational, camping or travel use. 

 
(2) "Fifth wheel trailer" is a vehicular unit, mounted on wheels, designed to provide temporary 
living quarters for recreational, camping or travel use, of such size or weight as not to require 
special highway movement permit(s), of gross trailer area not to exceed four hundred (400) 
square feet (37.2m2) in the set-up mode, designed to be towed by a motorized vehicle that 
contains a towing mechanism that is mounted above or forward of the tow vehicle’s rear axle. 

 
(3) "Motor home" is a vehicular unit designed to provide temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping or travel use, built on or permanently attached to a self-propelled motor 
vehicle chassis or on a chassis cab or van that is an integral part of the completed vehicle. 

 
(4) "Park model trailer" is a recreational vehicle that is built on a single chassis mounted on 
wheels; Having a gross trailer area not exceeding four hundred (400) square feet in the set-up 
mode; 

 
(5) "Travel trailer" is a vehicular unit, mounted on wheels, designed to provide temporary living 
quarters for recreational, camping or travel use, of such size or weight as not to require special 
highway movement permits when towed by a motorized vehicle, and of gross trailer area less 
than three hundred twenty (320) square feet. 

 
(6) "Truck camper" is a portable unit constructed to provide temporary living quarters for 
recreational, travel or camping use, consisting of a roof, floor and sides, designed to be loaded 
onto and unloaded from the bed of a pickup truck. 

 
(7) "Tiny house trailer" is a portable housing unit built on or permanently attached to a single 
chassis mounted on wheels or on a trailer and constructed to provide temporary living quarters 
for recreational, travel or seasonal use, consisting of a roof, floor and sides. 

 
(d) "Recreational vehicle park" or "RV park" is a tourist facility for parking motor homes, travel 
trailers and other recreational vehicles. 

 
(e) "Mobile Home Trailer park" means any parcel or adjacent parcels of land in the same 
ownership which is utilized for occupancy, either free of charge or for revenue, together with any 
building, structure or enclosure. This term shall not be construed to mean tourist facilities. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-33 

 

 

(f) "Vacation usage" means occupancy that does not exceed a consecutive seventy-two (72) hour 
period within a seven (7) day week. 

 
Storage of RVs. Recreational vehicles may be parked or stored on private property in all 
zoning districts, except vacant residentially zoned properties where no primary structure is 
present. The following requirements are to be met when storing an RV: 

 
(a) Street parking. No RV shall be parked or stored for more than twenty-four (24) consecutive 
hours within any public road right-of-way. 

 
(b) Storage on residential property. RVs parked in a driveway or immediately adjacent to and 
parallel to the driveway may not encroach into the road right-of-way. 

 
(c) Excluding property that is zoned or permitted by special use for the storage or use of RVs, all 
property owners may have no more than one RV on their property unless the following criteria is 
met: 

 
(1) One RV per one acre of property, never to exceed three RVs regardless of acreage. (2) The RV 
is setback from all property lines by a minimum of five feet (5 ft); RV use on residential property 
less than 1 acre is prohibited. 

 
Habitation of RVs. No RV will be permitted as a residence and habitation of any parked or 
stored RV shall be prohibited, with the following exceptions: 

 
(a) When the RV is placed within a Recreational (Rec-1) District, Mobile Home (MHP-1) 
District or a property that has obtained an approved Special Use Permit for such use; 

 
(b) Vacation usage, as defined in this section is habitation that is 72 hours or less in any given 7- 
day period, provided that the requirements of storage of RVs are met. 

 
(c) Temporary RV Use Permit. An RV may be used for temporary living quarters for not more 
than eight (8) months while the occupant thereof is constructing or repairing a permanent 
dwelling on the same property. Before an RV will be permitted in such an instance, the owner of 
the property or the person intended to occupy the RV shall secure a temporary use permit for 
the RV. Such permit shall be granted only after application has made to the Zoning Department 
that a permanent dwelling will be constructed or repaired within eight (8) months thereafter 
and construction will start within sixty (60) days of RV placement. Only one (1) RV shall be 
permitted on any parcel of land during the construction or repair of a permanent dwelling. 

 
(1) A repair shall be considered when a condition is present that prevents the home 
owner from occupying home during construction. Repairs that are minor and/or that can 
be confined within the interior shall not be considered. 

 
(2) Multiple RVs may be allowed on projects that are located outside residential districts 
when construction is expected to continue for more than ninety (90) days. 

 
Maintenance of RVs. RVs shall be maintained in good condition or be removed from public 
view. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-34 

 

 

(a) It is unlawful and a public nuisance to park, store, or leave standing in public view, upon any 
public or private property, any RV that is wrecked, dismantled, unregistered, defective or 
otherwise unsightly. Any RV shall be deemed unsightly when body parts become corroded to a 
point to prevent proper usage without repair or the RV exterior becomes otherwise dilapidated. 

 
Penalties & Fines. The following penalties and procedures shall apply for all non-compliance 
issued related to RV’s. 

 
(a) Except where otherwise specifically stated, violations of provisions of this chapter shall be 
noncriminal infractions, subject to a penalty fine of one hundred dollars ($100.00). 

 
(b) Notice of a non-compliance shall be sent by regular mail to the owner of property. A 
compliance timeframe will consist of a minimum of thirty (30) days to rectify said non- 
compliance. Each day of continuing noncompliance thereafter the given timeframe may 
constitute a separate and additional penalty fee of one hundred dollars ($100). 

 
Section 700-15.24. Tiny Homes 
The following provisions shall apply to all Tiny Homes that are built within the jurisdiction of 
Carroll County, IL. A tiny home shall be permitted as a standard residential building in the 
Agricultural (Ag-1) District, following all requirements of lot size and the Land Evaluation Site 
Assessment (LESA). Tiny homes in any Residential (R-1) or (R-2) Zoning District shall be 
permitted by special use permit. 

 
(1) TINY HOME DEFENITIONS. The following words and terms shall, for the purposes of this 
Section, have the meanings shown herein: 

 
(a) EGRESS ACCESS WINDOW. A skylight, roof window or loft wall window, that is designed 
and installed for personal egress to satisfy an emergency escape and/or rescue opening. Such 
openings shall be no less than 20 inches in width and 24 inches in height. 

 
(b) LOFT. A floor level located more than 6 feet above the main floor and open to it on at least 
one side with a ceiling height of less than 6 feet 8 inches, that is used as a living or sleeping 
space. 

 
(c) TINY HOME. A primary structure, one-family dwelling unit, allowed to be less than 800 
square feet, but no less than 300 square feet. 

(d) PERMANENT PERIMETER FROST FOUNDATION. A solid wall, basement or crawlspace 
that is dug and built below the established frost line or 4 feet below grade whichever is greater. 
Such foundations shall be built as a surround that goes entirely around the base of the structure 
and acts as the main support of the home. 

 
(2) LOFT REQUIREMENTS. Lofts built and used for sleeping shall include one EGRESS 
ACCESS WINDOW. 

(3) FOUNDATION REQUIRMENTS. All TINY HOMES shall be built and/or faceted upon a 
permanent perimeter frost foundation. 

 
ARTICLE 16 – PLANNED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-35 

 

 

Section 700-16.01 Planned Unit Development 
The County Board after review by the Zoning board of Appeals shall have the power to vary from 
the lot requirements of the Carroll County Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances in order to 
provide a means of achieving greater flexibility in development of land in a manner not possible 
in conventional zones; to encourage a more imaginative and innovative design of projects; to 
promote a more durable community environment; and to retain maximum control over both the 
structure and future operation of the development as required in the Carroll County Planned 
Unit Development Ordinance. 

 
ARTICLE 17 – ZONING OFFICER 

 
Section 700-17.01 Appointment 
It shall be the duty of the Chairman of the County Board acting as the County Zoning Officer, to 
administer and enforce the provisions of this ordinance until such time that the County Board 
determines that a separate department is desirable. At that time, the Chairman of the Carroll 
County Board shall appoint a Zoning Officer, but such appointment shall require the approval of 
the majority of the voting board members. The County Board may remove the Zoning Officer 
only after holding a public hearing thereon. 

 
Section 700 17.02 Duties 
The specific duties of the Zoning Officer shall include: 

(a) Providing zoning information upon request. 
(b) Receiving applications for building; reviewing such applications to determine if 

they comply with the ordinance provisions; and issuing or denying permits. 
(c) Receiving applications for special use permits, variances and amendments; 

referring such applications to the appropriate bodies for public hearing; and 
publishing notices of such hearings. 

(d) Conducting inspections. 
(e) Investigating violations. 
(f) Keeping the zoning map and text up to date. 

 
ARTICLE 18 – ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Section 700-18.01 Establishment of the Zoning Board of Appeals 
A Zoning Board of Appeals is hereby established, vested with such administrative authority as is 
hereinafter provided or as provided by State law. Such Board shall consist of five Carroll County 
citizens, each a resident of a separate congressional township. The five citizens shall be 
appointed by the Chairman of the County Board, and approved by the members of the Carroll 
County Board. The Carroll County Board may remove any member of the Board of Appeals after 
holding a public hearing thereon. 

 
Section 700-18.02 Duties 
The duties of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be: 

(a) To hear and decide appeals from any order, requirement, decision or 
determination of the Zoning Officer. 

(b) To interpret the meaning of the ordinance and make rulings with respect to the 
application of the ordinance. 

(c) To hold public hearings on proposed amendments to this ordinance, applications 
for variances and applications for special use permits. It shall act in a purely 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-36 

 

 

advisory manner making its recommendations in all such matters to the County 
Board. 

 
Section 700 18.03 Zoning Board of Appeals – Appeals 
Applicants not satisfied by judgments made by the Zoning Administrator may bring appeal, 
complaint or grievance to the Zoning Board of Appeals. 

 
Section 700 18.04 Appeal Process 

(a) Grievances will be heard at the next scheduled Zoning Board of Appeals meeting 
that will allow the proper notification to be made, pursuant to the “Illinois Open 
Meetings Act”, unless a delay will cause peril to life and/or property, then a special 
hearing may be called with the proper notification. 

(b) All parties involved will be notified by regular mail, as to the time, place and 
reason for the hearing. Parties may appear in person, by agent or attorney. 

(c) The Zoning Board of Appeals may reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may 
modify the order, requirement, decision or determination as in its opinion ought to 
be made in the premises, and to that end shall have all the powers of the officer 
from whom the appeal is taken. 

 
ARTICLE 19 – VARIANCES 

Section 700 19.01 Variances 
The County Board may grant variations from the provisions of this ordinance after the Zoning 
Board of Appeals has held a public hearing. The County Board may impose such restrictions 
and conditions upon the premises benefited by a variance as the public health, safety and 
general welfare may require. 

 
Section 700-19.02 Exhibits Required 
Applications for variances shall be made to the Zoning Officer. The following exhibits must 
accompany all applications unless waived by the Zoning Administrator. 
(a) The boundary survey and plot plan as required for building permit applications. 
(b) Other information as deemed necessary by the Zoning Administrator. 

Section 700-19.03 Application Procedure 
The procedures for applying for a variance form the regulations of this ordinance are as follows: 
(a) The property owner or his agent shall meet with the Zoning Officer to explain his 

situation, learn the procedures, and obtain an application form. 
(b) The applicant shall file the completed application form together with the required 

exhibits with the Zoning Officer and shall pay a filing fee per Chapter 360 Building 
Regulations. 

(c) The Zoning Officer shall transmit the application and support documentation to the 
Board of Appeals prior to the next scheduled meeting. 

(d) The Zoning Officer will search property records to determine the owners of all properties 
that are within 250 feet of the property requesting the variance. However, the failure of 
any property owner to receive such notification after reasonable effort by the Zoning 
Officer shall not invalidate the proceeds. 

(e) The Zoning Officer shall publish notice of the public hearing as required by State law. 
(f) The Zoning Board of Appeals shall conduct a public hearing at the next scheduled Zoning 

Board of Appeals meeting that meets the notification process of the “Illinois Open 
Meetings Act”. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall either: 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-37 

 

 

(1) Make findings of fact relating to the application and recommend to the County 
Board that the application be granted, denied or granted with conditions; or 

(2) Adjourn the hearing on the application to another date not later than 45 days 
thereafter; or 

(3) Refer the application to the Carroll County Zoning and Agriculture Committee or 
the Carroll County Planning and Development Committee which may conduct a 
further hearing on the application. That committee shall thereafter present the 
matter to the full County Board for a decision. 

(4) The Carroll County Board shall not pass a variation, which fails to receive the 
approval of the Zoning Board of Appeals, by less than a ¾ vote of all the members 
of the County Board. 

(g) The Carroll County Board shall act on the application within 60 days after receiving the 
recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals or the Zoning and Agriculture 
Committee or Planning and Development Committee. 

 
Section 700-19.04 Variance of Ten Percent or Less 
If building is less than 10 percent (10%) of the bulk requirement, the Zoning Officer has the 
authorization to grant the variance without public hearing, provided that: 
(a) The application meets all requirements for the granting of a variance. 
(b) All adjoining property owners are notified by certified mail. 
(c) All notified property owners will be given 15 days to respond to the application request to 

indicate: 
(1) They support the variance being granted. 
(2) They do not support the variance being granted. 

(d) If objection is received, then the application will be forwarded to the next Zoning Board of 
Appeals to be heard at the next regularly scheduled hearing. 

(e) Filing fee paid per Chapter 360 Building Regulations. 
 
Section 700-19.05 Standards for Granting Variances 
(a) The Board of Appeals may vary the regulations of this ordinance when supporting 

evidence in each specific case indicates that: 
(1) Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographic conditions 

of the specified parcel of land involved, a particular hardship to the owner would 
result, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations were to be carried out. 

(2) The conditions upon which the petition for a variance is based are unique to the 
parcel of land for which the variance is sought and one not applicable, generally, to 
other property with the same zoning classification. 

(3) The purpose of the variance is not based exclusively upon a desire to increase the 
value of income potential of the parcel of land. 

(4) The alleged difficulty or hardship is caused by the provisions of this ordinance and 
has not been created by any persons presently or formerly having an interest in the 
parcel of land. 

(5) The granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to other land or improvements in the vicinity in which the parcel of land 
is located. 
(a) The proposed variance will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to 

adjacent property or substantially increase the congesting of the public 
safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
vicinity. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-38 

 

 

 
Section 700-19.06 Reapplication 
Reapplication for a variance that has been denied by the Carroll County Board will be subject to 
a 180-day waiting period before another request for the same variance may be applied for upon 
the same parcel. 

ARTICLE 20 – NON-CONFORMING STRUCTURES AND USES 
 
Section 700-20.01 Non-Conforming Structures and Uses 
The lawful use of any buildings or land existing at the time of the adoption of this ordinance may 
be continued, even if such use does not conform to the regulation of this ordinance, except as 
provided below: 
(a) Non-conforming Structures or Buildings 

(1) Alterations – A non-conforming structure or building shall not be reconstructed or 
altered to an extent exceeding 25 percent of its bulk structure unless said building 
or structure is changed to conform to the regulations of this ordinance. 

(2) Enlargement – A non-conforming building or structure shall not be added to or 
enlarged in any manner unless such additions or enlargements are made so as to 
bring said building or structure into conformity with the regulation of this 
ordinance. 

(3) Restoration – A non-conforming building or structure which is damaged by fire or 
other cause to the extent of more than 25 percent of its bulk structure shall not be 
restored except in conformity with the regulations of this ordinance. 

(4) Abandonment – A non-conforming use of a building or structure which has been 
discontinued for a period of six (6) months shall not be reestablished, and any 
future use shall be in conformity with the regulations of this ordinance. 
A. An addition to a lawfully existing non-conforming building or structure that 

would not meet the strict letter of this Ordinance but would not extend 
further than the original building or structure into any required setback(s) 
or yard area(s) of the zoning lot that the original building or structure is 
located may be permitted. Before issuing a zoning certificate for an 
addition to be constructed under this provision, a notice of the intent to 
issue such zoning certificate shall be sent by certified mail to all adjoining 
land owners within 250 feet of the property in question and any affected 
highway authority. If any notified adjoining land owner or affected highway 
authority files a written objection with the Zoning Administrator within 
fifteen (15) days receipt of such notice, a zoning certificate shall not be 
issued. The applicant may, however, proceed with an application for a 
variation as set forth in Section 700-19.03 of this Ordinance. Filing fee paid 
per Chapter 360 Building Regulations. 

(b) Non-conforming Use of Land 
(1) Extension – A non-conforming use of land shall not be extended or enlarged. 
(2) Relocation – A non-conforming use of land shall not be moved to any other part of 

the parcel of land upon which the same was conducted at the time of passage of 
this ordinance. 

(3) Abandonment – A non-conforming use of land that has been discontinued for a 
period of six (6) months shall not be reestablished, and any future use shall be in 
conformity with the regulations of this ordinance. 

 
ARTICLE 21 – SPECIAL USE PERMITS 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-39 

 

 

 
Section 700-21.01 Special Use Permits 
No property or structure may be used in a manner, which this ordinance classifies as “allowed by 
special use permit” until such special use permit has been issued. Only the County Board after 
review and recommendation by the Zoning Board of Appeals shall have the authority to issue a 
special use permit. 

 
Section 700-21.02 Exhibits Required 
The following exhibits shall be required unless waived by the Zoning Administrator: 
(a) The boundary survey and plot plan as required for the building permit application. 
(b) Detailed plan of operation, to include ingress/egress; buildings used or proposed to be 

built; hours of operation and other items required by the Zoning Administrator. 
 
Section 700-21.03 Application Procedure 
The procedure for obtaining a Special Use Permit is as follows: 
(a) The property owner or his agent shall meet with the Zoning Administrator to explain his 

situation, learn the procedures, and obtain an application form. 
(b) The applicant shall file the completed application form together with the required 

exhibits with the Zoning Administrator and shall pay the filing fee per Chapter 360 
Building Regulations. 

(c) The Zoning Administrator will forward the application and information prior to the next 
scheduled Zoning Board of Appeals hearing in the following manner: 
(1) To the members of the Zoning Board of Appeals prior to the next scheduled 

hearing date. 
(2) To the governing body of a municipality within one and one-half mile of the 

property that is subject of the special use permit. The municipality in such 
instance shall be advisory to the Zoning Board of Appeals only. 

(3) Those school districts affected by the zoning request. 
(d) The Zoning Administrator shall make the following notification: 

(1) Publication Notice of Hearing published in a newspaper of general circulation 
within the county, at least 15 days prior to the next regularly scheduled Zoning 
Board of Appeals hearing. 

(2) Send letters of notification to property owners, by regular mail, within 250 feet of 
the subject property. 

(e) The Zoning Board of Appeals shall conduct the public hearing at the next scheduled 
hearing date that meets the notification requirements of the “Illinois Open Meetings Act.” 
At the conclusion of the hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall either: 
(1) Make findings of fact relation to the application and recommendation to the 

County Board that the application be granted, denied, or granted with conditions; 
or 

(2) Adjourn the hearing on the application to the next meeting, but not to exceed 45 
days thereafter; or 

(3) Refer the application to the County Zoning and Agriculture Committee or the 
Carroll County Planning and Development Committee, which may further review 
the matter. That committee shall thereafter present the matter to the full County 
Board for a decision. 

(f) The Carroll County Board shall act on the application within 60 days after receiving the 
recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals; County Zoning and Agriculture 
Committee or the Carroll County Planning and Development Committee. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-40 

 

 

Section 700-21.04 Standards for Granting Special Use Permits 
(a) The Carroll County Board may grant a special use permit after demonstration by evidence 

that: 
(1) The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the special use will not be 

detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare. 

(2) The special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 
the immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted and will not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the area. 

(3) The establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the 
district. 

(4) Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and necessary facilities have been or will 
be provided. 

(5) Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress or egress so 
designed as to minimize congestion in the public streets. 

(6) The special use shall in all other respects conform to the applicable regulations of 
the district in which it is located. 

(7) A special use permit allows the intended use under the applicable District 
Regulations. 

(b) The Zoning Board of Appeals may recommend, and the Carroll County Board may 
stipulate, such conditions and restrictions upon the establishment, location, construction, 
maintenance, and operation of the special use as deemed necessary for the protection of 
the public interest and to secure compliance with the requirements specified in this 
ordinance. 

Section 700-21.05 Noncompliance/Revocation of Special Use Permits 
Where a special use permit has been issued pursuant to the provisions of this ordinance, such 
permit shall become null and void without further action by the Zoning Board of Appeals or the 
Carroll County Board, unless work thereon commences within one year of the date of granting 
such special use. A special use permit shall be deemed to authorize only one particular use and 
shall expire if that use shall cease for more than twelve consecutive months. 

Noncompliance. The failure to comply with any of the conditions or restrictions imposed on a 
special use permit or a violation of a county ordinance that occurs on the property for which the 
special use has been issued. Any permit shall be subject to restriction or revocation at any time 
by the county board, on its own motion or on the recommendation of the Zoning Board of 
Appeals, if it appears that: 

(1) The operator of such special use has failed to comply with any conditions or restrictions 
imposed on such permit and, after 30 days' notice of such failure to comply, has failed to remedy 
such noncompliance; or 

(2) The operator of such special use or any affiliate is engaged in any other area of the county in 
any activity for which a special use permit is required but for which no permit has been 
obtained, or if such operator or affiliate has failed to remedy any noncompliance with any 
conditions or restrictions on any other special use permit after 30 days' notice thereof. 

Section 700-21.06 Reapplication 
Reapplication for a special use permit that has been denied by the Carroll County Board will be 
subject to a 180-day waiting period before another request for the same special use may be 
applied for upon the same parcel. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-41 

 

 

 
ARTICLE 22 – TEMPORARY USE PERMITS 

 
Section 700-22.01 Temporary Use Permit 
The purpose of a Temporary Use Permit is to allow for activities in the unincorporated areas of 
the county that by their nature are not permanent zoning changes, i.e., circuses, festivals, etc. 
These activities can be conducted for no more than 60 days with approval of the Carroll County 
Zoning and Agriculture Committee. 

 
Section 700-22.02 Exhibits Required 
The following exhibits must be provided to the Carroll County Zoning Administrator at the time 
of application: 
(a) Description of activities to be conducted and location. 
(b) Evidence of adequate Liability Insurance for activities conducted. 
(c) Other information as requested by the Zoning Administrator. 

 
Section 700-22.03 Application Procedure 
The Applicant will meet with the Carroll County Zoning Administrator and complete a 
temporary use application and supply requested information and fee. 
(a) The application will be received at least 30 days prior to the next scheduled Carroll 

County Zoning and Agriculture Committee meeting for recommendations or comments 
by: 
(1) The Carroll County Sheriff’s Department. 
(2) The Township/County or State Highway Departments affected. 
(3) Property owner’s 250 feet surrounding the proposed location. 
(4) Other organizations as deemed required by Zoning Administrator. 

(b) A review of the application and comments will be conducted by the Zoning and 
Agriculture Committee and may issue a temporary use permit with a majority vote of 
committee members after establishment of a quorum. The Agriculture and Zoning 
Committee may issue such permit with conditions. 

(c) Upon approval the Zoning Administrator will issue the temporary use permit which will 
be in effect 60 days from date of approval. 

 
Section 700-22.04 Fee 
Filing fee paid per Chapter 360 Building Regulations. 

 
ARTICLE 23 – AMENDMENTS 

Section 700-23.01 Amendments 
This ordinance may be amended, changed, or altered only by a favorable vote of the Carroll 
County Board and only after a public hearing has been duly advertised and held by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals. In the event the property in question is located in one and one-half miles of a 
municipality in Carroll County, and amendment may be adopted only after review and 
recommendation by the governing body of such municipality. 

Section 700-23.02 Initiating an Amendment 
An Amendment to this ordinance may be one of the following: 
(a) A change in a district’s boundary (rezoning). 
(b) A change in a district’s regulations. 
(c) A change in any other provision of this ordinance. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-42 

 

 

 
Section 700-23.03 Procedure to Initiate Amendment 
Proceedings for amending this ordinance shall be initiated by: 
(a) Petition of an owner or owners of property which is proposed to be rezoned, or for which 

district regulation changes are proposed, or 
(b) Action of the Carroll County Board. 

 
Section 700-23.04 Exhibits Required 
Required exhibits for rezoning of district regulation changes initiated by property owners: 
(a) The boundary survey and plot plan as required for building permit application. 
(b) A Natural Resource Inventory review by the Natural Resource and Conservation Service 

(Form NRI2202a) 
 
Section 700-23.05 Application Procedure 
The procedure for a property owner to initiate rezoning or district regulation change applying to 
his property is as follows: 
(a) The property owner or his agent shall meet with the Zoning Officer to explain his 

situation, learn the procedures, and obtain an application form. 
(b) The applicant shall file the completed application form together with the required 

exhibits with the Zoning Officer and shall pay the filing fee per Chapter 360 Building 
Regulations. 

(c) The Zoning Officer will forward the application and information prior to the next 
scheduled Zoning Board of Appeals hearing in the following manner: 
(1) To the members of the Zoning Board of Appeals prior to the next scheduled 

hearing date. 
(2) To the governing body of a municipality within one and one-half mile of the 

property that is subject of the amendment. The municipality in such instance shall 
be advisory to the Zoning Board of Appeals only. 

(3) Those school districts affected by the zoning request. 
(d) The Zoning Officer shall make the following notification: 

(1) Publication Notice of Hearing published in a newspaper of general circulation 
within the county, at least 15 days prior to the next regularly scheduled Zoning 
Board of Appeals hearing. 

(2) Send letters of notification to property owners, by regular mail, within 250 feet of 
the subject property. 

(e) The Zoning Board of Appeals shall conduct the public hearing at the next scheduled 
hearing date that meets the notification requirements of the “Illinois Open Meeting Act.” 
At the conclusion of the hearing, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall either: 
(1) Make findings of fact relating to the application and recommendation to the 

County Board that the Application be granted, denied or granted with conditions; 
or 

(2) Adjourn the hearing on the application to the next meeting, but not to exceed 45 
days thereafter; or 

(3) Refer the application to the County Zoning and Agriculture Committee or the 
Carroll County Planning and Development Committee, which may further review 
the matter. That committee shall thereafter present the matter to the full County 
Board for a decision. 

(f) The Carroll County Board shall act on the application within 60 days after receiving the 
recommendation of the Zoning Board of Appeals; County Zoning and Agriculture 
Committee. 



Amended 05.18.2023 

700-43 

 

 

 
Section 700-23.06 Reapplication 
Reapplication for a rezoning amendment that has been denied by the Carroll County Board will 
be subject to a 180-day waiting period before another request for the same rezoning may be 
applied for upon the same parcel. 

ARTICLE 24 – VIOLATIONS 
 
Section 700-24.01 Fines and Separate Offenses 
A person who violates, disobeys, omits, neglects or refuses to comply with or resists the 
enforcement of any of the zoning provisions of this ordinance may be fined up to $500.00. 
(a) Upon evidence that a building violation has been committed the Zoning Officer will 

conduct the following: 
(1) Notify the property owner of the violation by regular mail, giving a timeframe 

determined by the Zoning Officer in which to secure the permit and/or pay a fine. 
(a) The fine will constitute twice the cost of a permit for the building being 

erected or having been erected. 
(b) Contractors/builders found to have built or building without the evidence of 

a permit being issued may also be fined $250.00. 
(2) Each week violation or failure to comply exists will constitute as a separate offense. 

Section 700-24.02 Service of Complaint 
The Zoning Officer is authorized to serve upon any person in violation of this ordinance a 
complaint of the violation in the form of a uniform non-traffic citation, which shall require the 
violator’s appearance before the circuit court. 

 
Section 700-24.03 Civil Suits Authorized 
The State’s Attorney may bring suit seeking to permanently enjoin any ongoing violation of this 
ordinance. 

Section 700 24.04 Fines for Building Agricultural Structures without Permit 
Agriculture structures erected without the required building permit shall have a fine not to 
exceed $25.00 for each offense committed. 

 
 
Passed as amended the  18th  day of  MAY 2023  by the County Board of 
Carroll County. 

 
 

 JOESPH PAYETTE  
County Board Chairman 



CHAPTER 745 GUEST HOME LICENSE ORDINANCE 

 1.1 Purpose and Applicability: The purpose of this ordinance shall be to control and regulate the use of 
property for transient lodging when said property cannot otherwise be permanently zoned with a 
lodging use. This ordinance removes guest homes as a special use within Chapter 700 and replaces it 
with a license requirement that allows lodging when the condi�ons herein can be met and maintained. 
The control shall be an atempt to mi�gate unwanted nuisance ac�vi�es, ensure safe clean loca�ons for 
guests as well as simplifying the process of applica�on for residents seeking to offer guest homes to the 
public. This ordinance shall apply to all areas outside of a municipality under the jurisdic�on of Carroll 
County, IL. all areas under the jurisdic�on of Carroll County, IL. 

 1.2 Defini�ons: The following words and terms shall, for the purposes of this Chapter, have the 
meanings shown: 

 “GUEST HOME” - A residen�al dwelling that is offered to guests for lodging on a transient basis. 

“Guest House/Home” – A single-family dwelling rented out on a transient basis for the purpose of 
providing guest accommoda�ons to the public for a charge 

“GUEST” – A guest is a member of the public who is paying for the use of lodging. 

 “TRANSIENT” – A period of �me for the use of lodging that is less than a consecu�ve 30 days. 

“Transient Resident” – Any person who occupies a Guest House/Home for less than thirty (30) 
consecu�ve days. 

“LODGING” - a transient living or sleeping place provided to a guest in exchange for payment. 

2. License and Registra�on Required: A yearly license and registra�on is required of all owners seeking
to use property for guest home lodging. No guest home shall be installed or maintained on a property
without a valid and current license issued from Carroll County, IL. All new license applica�ons must be
filed with the zoning department and approved by county board ac�on. Renewal applica�ons will not
require county board ac�on. Exis�ng licenses must be renewed every year through the zoning
department by April 1st to maintain the license renewal status. All applica�ons shall include the
following informa�on, or other informa�on as requested: *Informa�on on file may be used to aid in
renewal.

i. Owner name and contact informa�on

ii. Property Site Address

iii. A copy of the lodging lis�ng, including all policies, quite hour requirements, ADA accessibility
requirements, parking restric�ons, facili�es or ameni�es with restric�ons thereto, a general descrip�on
of the rental including the number of sleeping unites and bathrooms as well as a completed emergency
plan with contact informa�on.

iv. Proof of Liability Insurance.



v. Documenta�on of approved well, water and sep�c infrastructure. An applicant seeking a guest home
license must obtain approval from the health department or other tes�ng facility for the water, well and
sep�c systems that will be used at the guest home loca�on. Inspec�ons may be required.
Documenta�on on file with the Carroll County Health Department may be used to sa�sfy these
requirements.

3. Inspec�on/Onsite Requirements: Owners or their designated agent are required to show proof of
compliance and/or submit to an inspec�on of the property. If an inspec�on is needed it will be
scheduled for a convenient �me with the owner or their agent as needed. The following list of onsite
requirements are to be maintained at all �mes. Failure to maintain any of these requirements may
cons�tute a viola�on, fine, suspension, revoca�on and/or disqualifica�on.

i. Prominently displayed or easily located working fire ex�nguisher.

ii. Smoke and Carbone Monoxide Alarms in common areas

iii. Carroll County Guest Home License Document

iv. Emergency Plan and Contact Informa�on

v. All below grade sleeping areas must meet the Emergency Escape & Rescue Opening Code for below
grade bedrooms.

4. Hotel/Motel Tax. For each license and loca�on granted approval, the owner is required to file and pay
applicable hotel and motel tax to the Carroll County, IL Treasurer’s Office.

5. Applica�on Fees. The cost to apply for a new license is $250 (two hundred and fi�y dollars). License
renewal and registra�on is available on a yearly schedule through the zoning department, ending April
1st of every year. The cost to renew an exis�ng license is $100 (one hundred dollars). Failure to renew a
license within the renewal period ending April 1st of every year will forfeit the applica�on as a renewal
and require a new license applica�on; Including but not limited to no�fica�on, county board ac�on and
new license fee.

6. List of ac�ve licenses. The zoning department shall keep a complete record of all ac�ve licenses; and
shall furnish the list by request as a public document.

7. Neighbor No�fica�on. It shall be the responsibility of the zoning department to make no�fica�on by
regular mail to all property owners of record located within 250 of a subject property applying for a new
license. No such no�fica�on will be required for a license renewal.

8. No Change of Loca�on. No change of loca�on shall be allowed for any license issued and each
property will be required to have its own guest home license.

9. Transi�on of Guest Home Special Use Permit to License. Loca�ons that have a current guest home
special use will be allowed to use that permit for the remainder of the 5-year period that has been
issued. Special use permits for guest homes will be provided the chance to con�nue as a renewal license
applica�on at the end of that renewal period. Loca�ons that exceed or have exceeded their 5- year
renewal period will be required to complete a new license applica�on. All other requirements set forth
herein will apply to guest home special use permits on the effec�ve date of this ordinance.



10. Fines, viola�ons and severability. A person who violates, disobeys, neglects or refuses to comply
with the provisions of this ordinance may be fined up to one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for each
offense and each week of non-compliance. Ongoing or repe��ve offenses and/or nuisance ac�vi�es,
including but not limited to: excessive late hour noise, unkept trash, improper parking, disorderly
conduct or failure of an onsite requirement listed in #3 may cons�tute a viola�on. Upon evidence that a
viola�on has been commited the Zoning Administrator will conduct the following:

i. No�fy the property owner of the viola�on, giving a reasonable �me frame determined by the Zoning
Officer in which to pay a fine and/or take correc�ve ac�on(s).

ii. The Zoning Officer is authorized to serve upon any person in viola�on of this ordinance a uniform
non-traffic cita�on which shall require a fine and/or the violator’s appearance before the circuit court.

iii. The State’s Atorney may bring suit seeking to permanently enjoin any ongoing viola�on of this
ordinance that cannot otherwise be resolved.

iv. The county board may act to suspend, revoke or disqualify a license and/or license holder a�er an
atempt has been made to correct a viola�on and a�er no�fica�on of such ac�on has been made to the
license holder.

Effec�ve Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval. 

ADOPTED THIS ___19th___ day of ___May__, 2022. _________KEVIN REIBEL_____ County Board 
Chairman 



State of Illinois 
Before the County Board of Carroll County 

Resolution No._______ 

A resolution to authorize the Carroll County Treasurer to make administrative 
changes to Fund 74 (Transportation Grant).  
______________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, in November of 2013, the Carroll County Board authorized the 
Carroll County Treasurer to create Fund 74, a checking account held at TBK 
bank, in order to withdraw and deposit money from the “Transportation Grant.” 

WHEREAS, the Illinois Department of Transportation requires the County 
to maintain and name the account to comply with standardized grant 
requirements, and 

WHEREAS, the County has since hired Mary Maszk, to fill the role of 
Program Compliance Oversight Monitor (PCOM) through the requirements of 
the Illinois Department of Transportation on March 7, 2024, and 

WHEREAS, Ms. Maszk will need access to the checking accounts 
statements for auditing purposes, and  

WHEREAS, Mike Doty (former County Administrator) was fulfilling the 
duties of the PCOM and was listed as an authorized user on the checking 
account but has since retired.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF 
CARROLL COUNTY: 

The County Board of Carroll County Illinois authorizes the Carroll County 
Treasurer to make necessary administrative changes to Fund 74, “Transportation 
Grant” account by changing the name of the account to “Transportation PTA”, 
removing Mike Doty as an authorized user, and adding Mary Maszk has an 
authorized user. 

Passed this ___ day of May, 2024 by the County Board of Carroll County. 

______________________ 
Chairman



State of Illinois ) 
) ss 

County of Carroll ) 

I, Amy Buss, County Clerk for Carroll County, State of Illinois, keeper of 
the records and files thereof in accordance with law, do hereby certify the 
foregoing resolution was passed by the Carroll County Board at it regular 
monthly meeting held at Mt. Carroll, Illinois and the date aforesaid in accordance 
with law. 

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and seal at my office at 
Mt. Carroll, Illinois this ________ day of May, A.D. 2024. 

[Seal] 
____________________ 
Amy Buss 
Carroll County Clerk 




	Agenda
	Minutes May 2, 2024 Board Meeting
	Bills Paid In Vacation
	Committee on Claims
	Hwy Dept. Monthly Report
	Tri-County Monthly Report
	America's Parking Remarking Contract
	Savanna Moose Club Raffle License Application
	Chapter 700 Zoning Ordinance
	Chapter 745 Guest Home License Ordinance
	Resolution for Transportation Fund
	Letter of Support
	Untitled



